# Canadian Cancer Statistics A **2020 special report** on lung cancer





Produced by the Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics Canada, the Public Health Agency of Canada, in collaboration with the provincial and territorial cancer registries cancer.ca/statistics

#### Citation

Material appearing in this publication may be reproduced or copied without permission. The following citation is recommended: Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. *Canadian Cancer Statistics: A 2020 special report on lung cancer*. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2020.

Available at: <u>cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2020-EN</u> (accessed [date]).

September 2020

ISSN 0835-2976

This publication is available in English and French on the Canadian Cancer Society's website at <u>cancer.ca/statistics</u>. Visit the website for the most up-to-date version of this publication and additional resources, such as supplementary data and an archive of previous editions.

The development of this publication over the years has benefited considerably from the comments and suggestions of readers. The Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee appreciates and welcomes such comments. To offer ideas on how the publication can be improved or to be notified about future publications, complete the <u>evaluation form</u> or email <u>stats@cancer.ca</u>.

# Members of the Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee

### Leah Smith, PhD (Co-chair)

Cancer Information, Canadian Cancer Society, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

### Ryan Woods, PhD (Co-chair)

Cancer Control Research, BC Cancer, Vancouver, British Columbia

### Darren Brenner, PhD

Departments of Oncology and Community Health Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta

### **Larry Ellison, MSc** Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

### **Cheryl Louzado, MSc, MHSc** Regional Integration Office, Canadian Partnership Against Cancer, Toronto, Ontario

### Amanda Shaw, MSc

Centre for Surveillance and Applied Research, Public Health Agency of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

### Donna Turner, PhD

Population Oncology, CancerCare Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba

### Hannah K. Weir, PhD

Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia

### **Analytic leads**

### Larry Ellison, MSc

Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

### Shary Xinyu Zhang, MSc

Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

### **Project management**

### Monika Dixon

Cancer Information, Canadian Cancer Society, Toronto, Ontario

# Table of Contents

About this special report
About Canadian Cancer Statistics
Introduction
Key findings
Background
Risk factors
Types of lung cancer
Incidence and mortality
Incidence and mortality by sex, age and
geographic region
Incidence by histologic type14
Incidence by stage at diagnosis15
Trends over time
Trends in incidence by age18
Trends in incidence by geographic region18
Trends in incidence by histologic type18
Survival
Survival by sex
Survival by age
Survival by geographic region
Survival by histologic type
Survival by stage at diagnosis25

## Prevalence Related issues

Торассо	. 27
E-cigarettes	. 27
Cannabis	. 28
Screening	. 28
Treatment	. 29
International comparison	. 33
Conclusion	
Enhancing prevention	. 34
Implementing organized screening	
programs	. 35
Better understanding the patterns in	
lung cancer	. 35
Appendix: Data sources and methods	
Data sources and definitions	. 45
Statistical analysis	. 46
Limitations	. 47
External contributions	. 47
Peer review	. 49
References	
Index of tables and figures	
Contact us	
Partner organizations	. 52
Canadian Council of Cancer Registries	. 52
Vital Statistics Council for Canada	. 52

# About this special report

Lung cancer is projected to continue being the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer death in Canada in 2020, accounting for 1 in 4 of all cancer deaths. At 19%, the five-year net survival for lung cancer is among the lowest of all types of cancer. Although we have made tremendous progress in lung cancer as a result of tobacco control, there is much more to do.

This special report provides new, detailed estimates of lung cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Canada. Where relevant, this information is presented by sex, age group, geographic region, histologic type, stage and time period. It also provides information on important and emerging issues related to lung cancer, such as risk factors, screening, treatment and equity. The findings provide new insight into lung cancer patterns in Canada that can be used to help identify where gaps and opportunities exist.

We hope that our readers think critically about how they can use these numbers in their own work to reduce lung cancer incidence, improve survival and develop better overall care for those dealing with lung cancer in Canada.

This special report sheds important light on the continued high burden of lung cancer, along with the critical importance of enhancing prevention efforts and implementing organized lung cancer screening programs. In 2020, lung cancer is expected to cause more deaths than colorectal, pancreatic and breast cancers combined.



# About Canadian Cancer Statistics

Canadian Cancer Statistics is a partnership between the Canadian Cancer Society, Statistics Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada aimed at generating and disseminating the latest surveillance statistics on cancer in Canada. To achieve this goal, the partner organizations bring together expertise from across the cancer surveillance and epidemiology community in the form of the Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee.

The three main Canadian Cancer Statistics products are:

- Full publication: Every second year, we release a publication that provides detailed estimates of cancer incidence, mortality and survival by sex, age group, geographic region and time period for more than 20 of the most commonly diagnosed cancers in Canada. The most recent edition was <u>Canadian</u> <u>Cancer Statistics 2019</u>, which was published in September of 2019. The next edition is expected in 2021.
- Snapshot of projected estimates: In between years with the full publication, we release projected estimates of incidence and mortality by sex and geographic region for the current year. The purpose of this work is to ensure that current-year estimates are available annually. The 2020 projected estimates were published in an article titled Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020 in the Canadian Medical Association Journal in March of 2020. The next snapshot will be released in 2022.
- **Special report**: In the same years as the snapshot publication, we also publish a special report on a topic of particular importance to the cancer control community. The 2020 special report is on lung cancer. The next special report will be published in 2022.

These Canadian Cancer Statistics products are designed to help health professionals, policymakers and researchers make decisions and identify priorities for action in their respective areas. However, the information contained in these products is relevant to a much broader audience. As such, the media, educators and members of the public with an interest in cancer may also find these products valuable.

All Canadian Cancer Statistics products, along with supporting resources, are accessible through <u>cancer.ca/statistics</u>.

# Introduction

### Led by Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee's Working Group on Lung Cancer:

Larry Ellison (Statistics Canada) Christian Finley (McMaster University) Stephen Lam (University of British Columbia) Cheryl Louzado (Canadian Partnership Against Cancer) Amanda Shaw (Public Health Agency of Canada) Leah Smith (Canadian Cancer Society)

### Lead analysts:

Larry Ellison (Statistics Canada) Shary Xinyu Zhang (Statistics Canada)

### Peer reviewed by: (1)

David Dawe (CancerCare Manitoba) John J. Spinelli (University of British Columbia) Martin Tammemägi (Brock University)

### **Key findings**

- For lung cancer, incidence and mortality rates among males have been declining for over 20 years. The decline in incidence has been especially notable since 2012. Among females, rates began to decline in 2012 for incidence and in 2006 for mortality.
- Lung cancer incidence and mortality rates are higher among males than females, but these rates have been getting closer over time.
- Among Canadians younger than 55 years of age, lung cancer incidence and mortality rates are higher in females than males.
- Excluding Quebec, lung cancer incidence and mortality rates are generally highest in the territories and Atlantic provinces.

- In most provinces and territories, the lung cancer incidence rate has been decreasing for males and decreasing or remaining stable for females.
  Mortality rates show a similar pattern.
- Almost 1 in 2 of all lung cancer cases with a specified histologic type is classified as adenocarcinoma, the most common histologic type. It is the only histologic type that is diagnosed at a higher rate among females than males.
- About half of all lung cancers are diagnosed at stage 4, at which point survival is extremely low.
- Lung cancer survival and prevalence are typically higher among females than males, regardless of age or province at diagnosis.

1. Please see Appendix for a description of the peer-review process.

# Background

Lung and bronchus (lung) cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer death in Canada.<sup>(1)</sup> In 2020 alone, a projected 29,800 Canadians will be diagnosed with lung cancer and 21,200 will die from the disease. More Canadians die of lung cancer than colorectal, pancreatic and breast cancers combined. The high mortality reflects both its high incidence and low survival. Although lung cancer survival in Canada is among the highest in the world,<sup>(2)</sup> five-year net survival is estimated to be only 19%.<sup>(3,4)</sup>

Lung cancer is generally considered one of the most costly cancers.<sup>(5)</sup> It is estimated that lung cancer will cost Canada's publicly funded healthcare system \$2 billion in 2020. This represents an average of about \$70,000 per lung cancer case.<sup>(6)</sup> These estimates do not take into account the financial impact on the individual and their family, which can also be substantial.<sup>(7)</sup>

## **Risk factors**

About 86% of lung cancer cases are attributable to modifiable risk factors, making it one of the most preventable cancers in Canada.<sup>(8)</sup> Tobacco is by far the leading cause of preventable lung cancer, accounting for about 72% of all cases.<sup>(9)</sup> Additional factors like radon gas, asbestos, air pollution and certain workplace exposures also increase the risk for lung cancer.<sup>(10–13)</sup>

### Box A The impact of modifiable risk factors on lung cancer incidence and mortality

Contributed by Dr Darren Brenner and Dr Yibing Ruan on behalf of the ComPARe study team

The Canadian Population Attributable Risk of Cancer (ComPARe) study was released in May 2019. The ComPARe study brought together experts from across the country to estimate the number and percentage of new cancer cases in Canada now and in the future due to more than 20 modifiable risk factors.<sup>(8,12)</sup>

Risk factors are associated with cancer diagnoses, so the subsequent deaths from these diagnoses may also be attributable to the risk factors. The results presented in this section build on the original ComPARe findings by providing updated estimates of the percentage of lung cancer cases attributable to modifiable risk factor and new insight into the percentage of deaths attributable to these risk factors. Table A1 summarizes the percentages of current and future lung cancer cases and deaths that are expected to be attributable to each established risk factor.

**TABLE A1** Percentage of lung cancer cases and deathsattributable to established risk factors, 2020 and 2045,Canada

	New cases		Deaths	
	2020	2045	2020	2045
Tobacco	74%	69%	75%	70%
Physical inactivity	11%	10%	12%	10%
Residential radon	7%	7%	7%	7%
Air pollution	6%	5%	6%	5%

The percentages presented in Table A1 cannot be directly added together, but a summary analysis revealed that these risk factors are estimated to account for 80% of all lung cancer cases in 2020 and 75% of all projected lung cancer cases in 2045. The lower percentages of cases expected between 2020 and 2045 assumes current decreases in exposure to tobacco, physical inactivity and air pollution will continue.

When possible risk factors (i.e., secondhand smoke, low fruit consumption and low vegetable consumption) are also considered, the percentage of preventable lung cancer cases rose to 85% in 2020 and 80% in 2045 (data not shown). This amounts to an estimated 25,200 preventable lung cancer cases in 2020 and 19,000 in 2045, for a total of 623,500 potentially preventable lung cancer cases over the 26-year period.

Correspondingly, these four established risk factors are expected to account for about 81% of all lung cancer deaths in 2020 and 76% in 2045.

When possible risk factors are also considered, the percentage of avoidable lung cancer deaths rose to 86% in 2020 and 81% in 2045. This amounts to an estimated 21,000 preventable lung cancer deaths in 2020 and 20,800 in 2045 for a total of 586,900 preventable lung cancer deaths over the 26-year period.

For more information about the ComPARe study, visit <u>prevent.cancer.ca</u>.

Non-modifiable factors that increase the risk for lung cancer include a personal or family history of lung cancer, a personal history of lung disease and a weakened immune system.

Box A provides new insight into the percentage of lung cancer deaths attributable to modifiable risk factors. Box B provides more information about the impact of workplace-related risk factors on lung cancer.

# **Types of lung cancer**

Lung cancer starts in the cells of the lung or bronchus (Image A). Cancer that starts in another part of the body and spreads to the lung is called lung metastasis. This is not the same disease as primary lung cancer, which is the focus of this report.



## Box B Some workers have a higher risk for lung cancer

Contributed by Dr Paul Demers on behalf of the Occupational Cancer Research Centre

The Burden of Occupational Cancer in Canada project estimated that about 15% of all lung cancer cases are attributable to well-established workplace carcinogens.<sup>(13)</sup> The percentage of workplace-related lung cancer cases is higher among males (25%) than females (5%).

The workplace exposures with the most significant impact on lung cancer are asbestos, diesel engine exhaust, crystalline silica, welding fumes, nickel, chromium, radon and secondhand tobacco smoke.<sup>(14)</sup> The greatest number of excess lung cancer cases was among people who had worked in the construction, transportation and mining industries, as well as some manufacturing sectors.

Cancers caused by workplace exposures are almost all preventable. However, according to CAREX (CARcinogen EXposure) Canada, hundreds of thousands of workers continue to be exposed to well-established lung carcinogens across Canada. Provincial, territorial and federal ministries of labour and workers' compensation agencies are responsible for regulating exposure to carcinogens, but effective prevention efforts require collaboration between these agencies and employers, unions and workers in hazardous industries.

For more information, visit:

- Burden of Occupational Cancer: <u>https://www.occupationalcancer.ca/</u> <u>burden/</u>
- Occupational Disease Surveillance Program: <u>https://odsp-ocrc.ca</u>
- CAREX Canada: <u>https://www.</u> <u>carexcanada.ca/</u>

Lung cancer is defined based on the histology of the cancer cells, which is how they look under a microscope. Lung cancer is divided into two main types: small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). SCLC is diagnosed much less frequently than NSCLC, which accounts for about 9 in 10 lung cancer cases.

NSCLC is further classified into three main histologic subtypes: adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma and large cell carcinoma.

Like most other cancers, lung cancers are also classified as stage 1, stage 2, stage 3 or stage 4 based on the extent of disease in the body at the time of diagnosis. This includes the size of the primary tumour and if it has grown or spread into surrounding tissues or the cancer cells have spread to other parts of the body (Image B).

Sometimes uppercase letters are added to the stage number to divide these categories into substages. Substages are not included in this report.

A case is classified as "stage unknown" when there is not enough stage information to determine a stage.

Histology					
Types	Non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)	Small cell lung cancer (SCLC)			
Subtypes	Adenocarcinoma Squamous cell carcinoma Large cell carcinoma				

### Image B Description of the stages of cancer

Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4
The cancer is relatively small and contained within the organ in which it started.	The cancer has not spread into surrounding tissue but the tumour is larger than in stage 1. Sometimes stage 2 means that cancer cells have spread into lymph nodes close to the tumour.	The cancer is large and may have spread into surrounding tissues and lymph nodes in the area.	The cancer has spread through the blood or lymphatic system from where it started to a distant site in the body (i.e., it has metastasized).

# Incidence and mortality

# Incidence and mortality by sex, age and geographic region

Table 1 shows the age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) of lung cancer by sex, age and province or territory. Table 2 shows the same for mortality.

- For lung cancer, the incidence rate is about 20% higher in males than females and the mortality rate is about 31% higher in males than females. However, among Canadians younger than 55 years of age, rates are higher in females than males.
- The lung cancer incidence and mortality rates increase dramatically with age (Figure 1). Incidence rates peak among Canadians aged 75–84 years, while mortality rates peak among Canadians aged 85 years and older.



### Incidence

The number of new cancer cases diagnosed in a given population during a specific period of time.

### Mortality

The number of cancer deaths in a given population during a specific period of time.

# Age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR)

The number of new cases of cancer per 100,000 people in a given population during a specific period of time, standardized to the age structure of the 2011 Canadian standard population. In this report, ASIR is also referred to as "incidence rate."

# Age-standardized mortality rate (ASMR)

The number of cancer deaths per 100,000 people in a given population during a specific period of time, standardized to the age structure of the 2011 Canadian standard population. In this report, ASMR is also referred to as "mortality rate" or "death rate."

## Statistical significance

Refers to a result that is unlikely due to chance given a predetermined threshold (e.g., fewer than 1 out of 20 times, which is expressed as p<0.05).

## Confidence interval (CI)

A range of values that provides an indication of the precision of an estimate. Confidence intervals are usually 95%. This means that, assuming no other sources of bias, if sample for a study was taken repeated over and over, 95% of the resulting confidence intervals would contain the true value of the statistic being estimated. The highest and lowest values of the interval are called the confidence limits. FIGURE 1 Age-specific incidence (2012–2016) and mortality (2013–2017) rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada (excluding Quebec)



Note: Quebec is excluded from incidence rates because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry and is excluded from mortality rates for consistency with the incidence data. Age-specific rates were based on counts randomly rounded to a base of five.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016) and Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database

Excluding Quebec, lung cancer incidence and mortality rates are highest in Nunavut, Northwest Territories and the Atlantic provinces. The lowest rates are in British Columbia (Figure 2).

• Lung cancer incidence and mortality rates are higher in males than females in almost all provinces. There are no statistically significant differences in rates between males and females in any of the territories.

# Why mortality can be higher than incidence

The mortality rate appears slightly higher than the incidence rate among Canadians aged 85 years and older and people in Nunavut. Incidence and mortality rates are not always expected to align for a few reasons.

For example, there is a latency between incidence and mortality, as mortality often reflects deaths from cases diagnosed one or more years before the current year. This can be amplified in smaller populations, like Nunavut, where year-toyear variation can be particularly high. It is also possible incidence is sometimes underestimated. This is particularly likely in older age groups when investigation of cancer diagnoses can be limited due to poorer health. FIGURE 2 Age-standardized incidence (2012–2016) and mortality (2013–2017) rates for lung cancer, by geographic region, Canada



\* No estimate of Quebec incidence is provided because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry.

**Note:** Age-standardized rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>). **Analysis by:** Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016) and Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database

# Making comparisons between provinces and territories

Differences in cancer measures, such as incidence and mortality, between provinces and territories could be the result of differences in past risk factors (such as smoking), diagnostic or treatment practices and access to care.

Many of the estimates in this report include confidence intervals. Confidence intervals provide a sense of how much uncertainty there is in the estimate. Typically, there is much less uncertainty for larger populations or samples than smaller ones. This means that extra caution must be taken when interpreting and comparing estimates of smaller provinces and territories.

### Quebec estimates

No estimates of Quebec incidence are provided because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. However, the most recent incidence data for Quebec (2010) indicates it had one of the highest lung cancer rates among provinces and territories. Also, Quebec mortality estimates indicate that the province currently has one of the highest lung cancer mortality rates in the country. Therefore, it is likely that Quebec's current incidence rate is among the highest in the country.

# Incidence by histologic type

In Canada (excluding Quebec), about 88% of lung cancer cases with a specified histologic type are NSCLC (Figure 3). Adenocarcinoma is the most common type of lung cancer, accounting for 48% of specified cases, followed by squamous cell carcinoma (20% of specified cases) and non– small cell lung cancer, not otherwise specified (NOS; 20% of specified cases). About 12% of lung cancers with a specified histologic type are small cell lung cancer (SCLC). These percentages do not include cases for which histologic type was unspecified.

The distribution of cases by histologic type is similar between sexes for most types. The exceptions are adenocarcinoma, which is more commonly diagnosed in females than males, and squamous cell carcinoma, which is more commonly diagnosed in males than females (Table 1).

Percentage of cases 60% Both sexes 53% Males 50% 48% Females 43% 40% 30% 24% 20% 20% 20% 19% 20% 12% 12% 12% 10% View data 1% 1% 1% 0% Adenocarcinoma Squamous cell Large cell Non-small cell Small cell lung cancer, NOS carcinoma carcinoma lung cancer Histologic type

NOS=not otherwise specified

\*The histologic type was unspecified for 12% of all lung cancer cases (i.e., including cases with both specified and unspecified histology). **Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. **Analysis by:** Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

Almost 1 in 2 lung cancer diagnoses with a specified histologic type is adenocarcinoma. It is the only histologic type that is diagnosed more frequently in females than males. FIGURE 3 Percent distribution of lung cancer cases, by specific\* histologic type and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016

# Incidence by stage at diagnosis

Approximately half of all lung cancer cases in Canada were stage 4 at diagnosis (Figure 4). An additional 20% of cases were diagnosed at stage 3. A greater percentage of males than females were diagnosed at stage 4, while the reverse was true for stage 1 cases.



FIGURE 4 Percent distribution of lung cancer cases, by stage and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016

Regardless of sex, age, histologic type or province, lung cancers were most likely to be diagnosed after they have metastasized (stage 4).

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

## About the histologic types

**NSCLC** accounts for most lung cancer cases. It is further classified into three main subtypes and not otherwise specified category.

- Adenocarcinoma is the most commonly diagnosed histologic type. It is also the most commonly diagnosed histologic type in people who have never smoked.
  Adenocarcinoma tends to develop in smaller airways, such as the alveoli, and grow more slowly than the other types of lung cancer.
- *Squamous cell carcinoma* is more strongly associated with tobacco smoking than any other type of NSCLC. It tends to develop in the middle part of a lung or one of the main airways. These tumours often cause

symptoms, such as coughing up blood, trouble breathing and chest pain, earlier than adenocarcinoma.

- *Large cell carcinoma* can appear in any part of the lung. It tends to grow and spread quickly, making it hard to treat. Because of a recent change in the way large cell carcinoma is classified,<sup>(15)</sup> they now represent a small proportion of all lung cancer cases.
- Non-small cell lung cancer, not otherwise specified (NOS) includes tumours that have not undergone pathological examination or the pathological examination has failed to identify the NSCLC subtype. It may also be referred to as "other non-small cell lung cancer."

**SCLC** is diagnosed much less frequently than NSCLC. It usually starts in the bronchi and is very aggressive. SCLC is almost always diagnosed in people with a smoking history.

## Histologic type-specific analyses

Sarcomas and other specified malignant neoplasms were included in the analyses of all lung cancers combined but were excluded from histologic type–specific analyses. See <u>Appendix</u> for how lung histologic types were defined. Stage at diagnosis varied by histologic type (Figure 5). Sixty seven percent of SCLC are diagnosed at stage 4 compared with 32% of squamous cell carcinoma. SCLC had the lowest percentage of stage 1 or 2 diagnoses at only 8% combined. For other histologic types, the percentage of stage 1 and 2 diagnoses combined varied from 19% (unspecified) to 37% (squamous cell carcinoma).

Table 3 shows that, regardless of sex, age, histologic type or geographic region, lung cancers were most likely to be diagnosed at stage 4 and least likely to be diagnosed at stage 2 (excluding those of unknown stage).

- Regardless of stage at diagnosis, the rate increased with age.
- The highest rate of stage 4 lung cancers was in Nunavut (57 per 100,000), while the lowest was in Ontario (28 per 100,000).
- The highest rate of unknown stage at diagnosis occurs in people aged 85 years or older.





NOS=not otherwise specified

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Excluded from the denominator were cancers that were not staged or staged as "Occult." This included cases assigned a stage grouping of "Not Applicable," "CS not run" or "Stage 0." Percent totals may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

# Trends over time

Trends in lung cancer mortality largely follow trends in lung cancer incidence (Figure 6).

- Age-standardized lung cancer incidence and mortality rates have been declining among males for over 20 years. Between 1992 and 2016, the incidence rate decreased 41% (from 110 to 65 cases per 100,000). Between 1992 and 2017, the mortality rate decreased 45% (from 94 to 52 deaths per 100,000).
- The recent decreases among males have been particularly notable, with an annual percent change (APC) of -4.0% for incidence (2012 to 2016) and -3.0% for mortality (2010 to 2017).
- The incidence rate among females increased between 1992 and 2012, but since then it has been decreasing at a rate of about -1.9% per year. The mortality rate among females has been decreasing since 2006 at a rate of about -1.2% per year.
- In Canada, both incidence and mortality rates have been converging between the sexes as a result of changes in the sex-specific patterns in lung cancer over time. For example, the lung cancer incidence rate in males was more than double the rate in females in 1992. By 2016, the incident rate for males was only 15% higher than the rate for females.

FIGURE 6 Trends in age-standardized incidence (1992–2016) and mortality (1992–2017) rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada (excluding Quebec)



\*APC differs significantly from 0, p<0.05

APC=annual percent change; ASIR=age-standardized incidence rate; ASMR=age-standardized mortality rate

**Note:** Quebec is excluded from incidence rates because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry and is excluded from mortality rates for consistency with the incidence data. Age-standardized rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see *Appendix*).

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016) and Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database

## Annual percent change (APC)

The estimated change in a rate per year over a defined period of time in which there is no significant change in trend (i.e., no changepoint). It is reported as a percentage. The difference in trends in lung cancer rates in males and females largely reflects past differences in tobacco smoking. In males, a decrease in the prevalence of daily smokers began in the mid-1960s in Canada, preceding the decrease in lung cancer incidence by about 20 years. In females, the decrease in smoking did not start until the 1980s.<sup>(3,16,17)</sup>



The difference in lung cancer incidence between the sexes has diminished considerably since the early 1990s.

## Trends in incidence by age

The most recent trends show meaningful declines in lung cancer incidence rates for all age groups younger than 85 years, with APCs ranging from -2.0% to -5.5% (Table 4).

The incidence rate among females for all ages combined started decreasing in 2012. However, Table 4 indicates that lung cancer incidence rates have been declining since at least the early 1990s among females younger than 65 years of age.

Among males, there has been a general decrease in lung cancer incidence rates in all age groups since 1992. The exception is the rate for males aged 85 years and older, which remained stable.

# Trends in incidence by geographic region

Trends in incidence rates for both sexes combined are currently decreasing in all provinces except Newfoundland and Labrador, where the rate is stable (Table 5). The current overall trend in Newfoundland and Labrador masks the fact that since 1992 the incidence rate among females increased by 2.8% per year and the rate among males decreased by -1.5% per year. The lung cancer incidence rate has been decreasing among males in all provinces and territories except the Northwest Territories. The biggest decrease in the rate for males was observed in Ontario (APC=-6.3% for 2012–2016). In contrast, while there is an overall decrease in incidence rates for females reported at the national level (-1.9% per year since 2012), the only statistically significant decreases were in Ontario (-3.3% since 2012), Saskatchewan (-3.4% since 2011) and Nunavut (-2.8% since 1992). Incidence rates in females are not changing significantly in most other jurisdictions, except that they are increasing in Newfoundland and Labrador and Nova Scotia.

# Trends in incidence by histologic type

Figure 7 shows some important changes in incidence rates over time, by histologic type.

The rates of squamous cell carcinoma and small cell lung cancer (the two types most strongly associated with tobacco smoking) are lower than they were in 1992, while the rate of adenocarcinoma (the type most commonly diagnosed in non-smokers) is higher. It is hypothesized that this pattern, which has been observed elsewhere as well,<sup>(18)</sup> may be attributable to changes in cigarette composition and design,<sup>(19–21)</sup> as well as decreases in smoking.

- The rate of non-small cell lung cancer, NOS, has been decreasing since around 2007. This decrease seems to mirror an increase in adenocarcinoma. This shift likely reflects, at least in part, improvements in lung cancer subtyping and an emphasis on adequate tissue sampling that followed emerging evidence on the importance of histologic type in determining treatment. Similar trends have been observed in other countries, including the United States.<sup>(18,22,23)</sup>
- There were notable decreases in large cell carcinoma beginning around 1999. This likely reflects a change in classification of large cell carcinoma.<sup>(15)</sup>



The lung cancer incidence rate in females is not decreasing in most provinces and territories. Figure 8 breaks down these trends by sex and histologic type.

- For each histologic type, the incidence rate in males was higher than the rate in females in 1992. Over time, these rates generally converged, bringing the rate in males closer to the rate in females.
- Rates of adenocarcinoma were similar between sexes from 2005 and 2012, after which the rate in females surpassed the rate in males. Rates of adenocarcinoma have been stable in both sexes since 2012.
- The convergence of rates between males and females seemed to stabilize for squamous cell carcinoma around 2007. The biggest difference in rates by sex continues to exist for this histologic type (Table 1).
- Rates are not currently increasing significantly for any histologic type, though the APC is 1.8% (95% confidence limit -0.3%, 3.9%) for adenocarcinoma in females. For all other histologic types, the APC is below 0, suggesting statistically significant or non-statistically significant decreases in both sexes.
- See <u>online data</u> for the complete results of the trend analyses.

FIGURE 7 Trends in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) for lung cancer, by histologic type, Canada (excluding Quebec), 1992–2016



NOS=not otherwise specified

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Age-standardized rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>).

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)





## Adenocarcinoma

## Large cell carcinoma





### Squamous cell carcinoma



## Non-small cell lung cancer, NOS



ASIR (per 100,000) 16 14 12 10 8 2 0 -2016 1992 1996 2000 2004 2008 2012 Year View data

### Small cell lung cancer



FIGURE 8 Trends in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) for lung cancer, by histologic type and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 1992–2016 (continued)

emale



#### NOS=not otherwise specified

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Age standardized rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>).

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

# Survival

Survival from lung cancer is poor. A recent study showed that the five-year predicted net survival for the 2012 to 2014 period was 19%. This survival rate is lower than all other cancer types studied except esophageal cancer, pancreatic cancer, liver cancer and mesothelioma.<sup>(4)</sup> The study also showed the five-year net survival for lung cancer increased 5.4 percentage points since the 1992 to 1994 period, with most of the improvement occurring since the early 2000s. The absolute increase in survival for lung cancer since the 1992 to 1994 period was lower than corresponding increases for other commonly diagnosed cancers, such as female breast (6.8 percentage points), prostate (7.2), colon (9.3) and rectum (11.4). However, it represented a 41% relative increase.<sup>(4)</sup>

# Survival by sex

For lung cancer, one-year and five-year net survival are higher among females than among males (Table 6).

• Five-year net survival for lung cancer is 22% among females and 15% among males. The survival advantage for females was apparent at one year of follow-up (49% versus 40%).

 Survival is higher among females than males across almost all age groups, histologic types, geographic regions and stages of disease.
Survival is similar between sexes for the youngest (15 to 44 years) and oldest (85 to 99 years) age groups and for those diagnosed with an unspecified histologic type.



### Net survival

The percentage of people diagnosed with a cancer who survive a given period of time past their diagnosis assuming that the cancer of interest is the only possible cause of death. Net survival is the preferred method for comparing cancer survival in population-based cancer studies because it adjusts for the fact that different populations may have different levels of background risk of death. It can be measured over different timeframes but. as is standard in other reports, five years has been chosen as the primary duration of analysis for this publication. However, three-year net survival is used for survival by stage due to data availability.

### **Predicted survival**

Predicted (period) survival provides a more up-to-date estimate of survival by exclusively using the survival experienced by cancer cases during a recent period (e.g., 2012 to 2014). When there is an increasing trend in survival, predicted estimates provide a more up-to-date, though conservative, measure of recent survival.<sup>(24,25)</sup>

# Survival by age

Net survival for lung cancer generally decreases with advancing age (Table 6).

- Five-year net survival declined from 35% among those between 15 and 44 years of age at diagnosis to 9% among those 85 to 99 years of age.
- Among males, the decline was larger in the younger age groups. The reverse was true among females.
- For those diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer, NOS, five-year net survival decreased from 60% (95% confidence interval [CI] 52%-67%) among those aged 15 to 44 years at diagnosis to 25% (95% CI 22%-28%) among those aged 45 to 54 years. Survival continued to consistently decline with the older age groups, but to a lesser extent (Figure 9).
- In contrast, there was considerably less variation in age-specific net survival among those diagnosed with either squamous cell carcinoma or small cell lung cancer (Figure 9).

FIGURE 9 Five-year predicted net survival for lung cancer, by age group and histologic type, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2014



NOS=not otherwise specified

\*Includes confidence intervals for estimates

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry death linked file (1992–2014) and life tables

# Survival by geographic region

Across the provinces, little variation was observed in net survival for lung cancer (Table 6).

- Five-year age-standardized net survival for lung cancer was highest in Manitoba (21%), Ontario (20%) and New Brunswick (20%). It ranged from 16% to 18% elsewhere.
- While an age-standardized five-year survival estimate for Prince Edward Island could not be calculated, the corresponding unstandardized estimate was 12% (95% CI 9%–16%). In this instance, the unstandardized estimate very likely is an appropriate proxy measure (see limitations outlined in <u>Appendix</u>). The results suggest that lung cancer survival may have been lower in Prince Edward Island than in many other provinces.
- Geographic differences in survival may be due to many factors, including differences in stage and histologic type distributions.

# Survival by histologic type

Net survival for lung cancer varied by histologic type.

 Five-year net survival was highest for adenocarcinoma (27%), but it was much lower among those diagnosed with small cell lung cancer (7%) and an unspecified histology (5%) (Figure 10). This pattern generally held true regardless of age at diagnosis (Figure 9). FIGURE 10 Five-year predicted net survival estimates for lung cancer, by histologic type and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2014



NOS=not otherwise specified

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry death linked file (1992–2014) and life tables

# Survival by stage at diagnosis

Due to the availability of stage data, three-year net survival was used instead of five-year net survival to estimate survival by stage. Three-year net survival decreased significantly with later stage at diagnosis (Figure 11).

• Three-year net survival for lung cancer decreased from 71% among those diagnosed at stage 1 to 5% among those diagnosed at stage 4. Similar results were observed for both sexes with consistently higher survival among females. FIGURE 11 Three-year predicted net survival estimates for lung cancer, by stage and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2014



Three-year net survival for lung cancer diagnosed at stage 4 was 5%, but it rose to 71% for lung cancer diagnosed at stage 1.

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry death linked file (1992–2014) and life tables

# Prevalence

Despite being one of the leading cancers in terms of incidence, the poor long-term survival for lung cancer results in a much lower prevalence than that of breast, colorectal or prostate cancer.<sup>(26)</sup> Table 7 shows the lung cancer prevalence in 2015 by sex and age group.

- Among people in Canada (excluding Quebec) alive on January 1, 2015, an estimated 44,140 lung cancer cases had been diagnosed in the previous 20 years. Based on the size of Quebec and its historic lung cancer prevalence relative to the rest of Canada, the 20-year prevalence of lung cancer is estimated to rise to approximately 61,800 in Canada as a whole (see <u>Appendix</u> for details).
- Lung cancer prevalence proportions were higher among females than males, which is likely because of the higher survival rates among females. The higher prevalence held for two-, five- and 20-year durations (Figure 12).
- The prevalence proportion of lung cancer increased with increasing age, peaking in those aged 75 to 84 years, before declining among the oldest age group (Table 7).
- At the beginning of 2015, 41% of prevalent lung cancer cases diagnosed in the previous 20 years had been diagnosed in the two most recent years (i.e., 2013 or 2014). For all other cancers combined, this number is only 19%.<sup>(26)</sup> The relatively small lung cancer survivor population underscores the poor long-term prognosis for people diagnosed with this cancer.

• Table 8 shows the lung cancer prevalence by geographic region.<sup>(26)</sup>

**FIGURE 12** Tumour-based prevalence proportions for lung cancer, by duration and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), January 1, 2015



### Prevalence

The number of cancers diagnosed within a specified time frame (previous two, five or 20 years) among individuals living on a certain date. In this case, that date is January 1, 2015.

### Prevalence proportion

The number of cancers diagnosed within a specified time frame (previous two, five or 20 years) among individuals living on a certain date per 100,000 individuals in the population on that date.

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. In the legend, 0–2 years refers to those diagnosed in 2013 and 2014; >2–5 years refers to those diagnosed between 2010 and 2012; >5–20 years refers to those diagnosed between 1995 and 2009. An entire bar corresponds to a 20-year proportion.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

# Related issues

# Tobacco

Tobacco smoking is by far the leading cause of preventable lung cancer, accounting for an estimated 72% of all lung cancer cases diagnosed in 2015.<sup>(12)</sup> The latency period between tobacco smoking exposure and lung cancer diagnosis is estimated to be between 7 and 33 years,<sup>(27)</sup> meaning current tobacco consumption patterns are important for providing insight into future potential lung cancer patterns.

According to the Canadian Community Health Survey,<sup>(28)</sup> in 2018:

- An estimated 16% of Canadians were current (daily or occasional) smokers.
- A higher percentage of males (19%) were current smokers than females (13%).
- The prevalence of smoking was highest between the ages of 18 and 64 years (18% to 19%) and lowest among those older than 65 years of age (10%) and between the ages of 12 and 17 years (3.2%).
- There was some variation in smoking prevalence across provinces. Compared with the Canadian average, smoking prevalence is significantly higher in Saskatchewan (20%) and Quebec (18%) and lower in British Columbia (12%).

Although smoking data for the territories is from a different source, in 2017 to 2018, the percentage of people 12 years of age and older who smoked daily or occasionally was an estimated 63% in Nunavut, 35% in Northwest Territories and 20% in Yukon.  $^{\rm (29)}$ 

The prevalence of tobacco smoking has decreased dramatically over the past 50 years. In 1965, about 50% of Canadians smoked,<sup>(16)</sup> compared to about 16% in 2018.<sup>(28)</sup> In males, this decrease started in the 1960s, but the decline in females did not begin until about 20 years later.<sup>(17)</sup> This pattern mirrors the pattern in lung cancer incidence rates, as lung cancer rates in females have only recently started to decline, 20 years after smoking in females started to decrease (Figure 6).

Smoking prevalence is much higher in Nunavut than any other province or territory.

# **E-cigarettes**

E-cigarettes, also known as vapes, are batterypowered devices that try to create the same feeling as smoking cigarettes but without tobacco. The ingredients commonly include propylene glycol, glycerol, flavouring and nicotine.

It is generally believed that using e-cigarettes is less harmful than smoking, provided there is not dual use of both products. However e-cigarettes are not harmless. There is mixed evidence on the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a tool to help smokers reduce or stop smoking tobacco.<sup>(30)</sup> E-cigarettes may not be more effective than already existing harm reduction tools, such as nicotine replacement therapy, pharmacotherapy and financial incentives.<sup>(31)</sup> However, it is difficult to make conclusions about their effectiveness in smoking cessation based on the limited research available. Therefore, the recent report from the Surgeon General of the United States on smoking cessation stated there currently is not adequate evidence to conclude that using e-cigarettes increases smoking cessation.(32)

The long-term effects of e-cigarettes are not yet known, including their association with lung cancer. However, evidence on the acute effects of e-cigarette use is emerging.<sup>(33)</sup> Also, there are important concerns that e-cigarette use is undermining tobacco control efforts and smoking, especially among youth.

- Notably, a 2017 survey suggested that most Canadians who have ever used e-cigarettes are under the age of 34, with the highest percentage reported among those in their early 20s.<sup>(34)</sup> Less than 10% of Canadians 45 years of age and older report ever using an e-cigarette.
- Additionally, a recent study showed a 74% increase between 2017 and 2018 in the

percentage of youth aged 16 to 19 years in Canada who had used an e-cigarette in the past 30 days.<sup>(35)</sup> This high and increasing use among youth is not surprising to those who think the e-cigarette industry is targeting their marketing to young people.<sup>(36)</sup> The study also showed a 45% increase in recent tobacco smoking in the same population.<sup>(35)</sup> This finding reinforces the idea that e-cigarette use may lead to increased tobacco use.

 Current advocacy efforts are primarily focused on restricting marketing and access to nonsmokers, especially youth.

## Cannabis

In October 2018, cannabis became legal in Canada. Since then, there have been increased efforts to collect data on cannabis consumption. This will contribute to our understanding of the effects of cannabis in the future. Some studies suggest that smoking cannabis over a long period of time may increase the risk for certain cancer types. The strongest evidence of an association is for testicular cancer, while evidence for lung. oral and other cancers remains unclear.<sup>(37)</sup> The link between cannabis and lung cancer may be because cannabis smoke contains many of the same carcinogens as tobacco smoke. Also, people who smoke cannabis tend to inhale more smoke per puff and hold it in their lungs for longer than people who smoke tobacco cigarettes. However, the evidence is inconsistent. More research is needed to determine if cannabis is a risk factor for lung cancer.



As with e-cigarette use, another concern with smoking cannabis is the potential of smoking more generally, especially since it is now legal to smoke and vape cannabis in many public places across Canada.

# Screening

This report shows that about 50% of lung cancers are diagnosed at stage 4, at which point the threeyear net survival is only about 5%. Meanwhile, only about 21% of lung cancers are diagnosed at stage 1, when the three-year net survival is over 70%. A major reason why lung cancers are diagnosed at a late stage is that symptoms are often unnoticeable at early stages.

Currently in Canada, there are no organized screening programs for lung cancer. However, opportunistic screening is occurring in at least six provinces<sup>(38)</sup> and implementation of organized programs is expected in the coming years. This is based on emerging evidence about lung cancer screening. Notably, two large randomized controlled trials have shown a significant (20% to 24%) reduction in mortality in current heavy smokers or former smokers who were screened using low-dose computed tomography (LDCT).

• The National Lung Screening Trial in the United States compared LDCT with standard chest x-ray in just under 53,500 individuals aged between 55 and 74 years who smoked 30 pack-years or more and smoked within the past 15 years.<sup>(39)</sup> 30 pack-years is defined as 1 pack per day for at least 30 years or 2 packs per day for 15 years. The study found a 20% reduction in lung cancer deaths among people screened annually for three years with LDCT compared with the standard chest x-ray.

• The Dutch-Belgian Randomized Lung Cancer Screening Trial (also called the NELSON study) compared LDCT with no screening in 15,822 people aged between 50 and 74 years who smoked an average of at least 15 cigarettes per day for 25 years or at least 10 cigarettes per day for 30 years or more and have smoked within 10 years. The study found that screening with LDCT resulted in a 24% reduction in lung cancer deaths in men. It also appeared to reduce lung cancer mortality risk even more in women.<sup>(40)</sup>

**Organized screening programs** follow guidelines to ensure a large proportion of the target group is screened and receives the appropriate follow-up care.

**Opportunistic screening** refers to the screening of individuals that occurs outside of an organized screening program.

The Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPHC) currently recommends screening for lung cancer with LDCT in adults aged 55 to 74 years who currently smoke or who quit within the last 15 years and have smoked 30 pack-years.<sup>(41,42)</sup> The recommendations emphasize that LDCT screening only be carried out in settings with expertise in early diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer. They also note the importance of incorporating smoking cessation into any screening program aimed at reducing lung cancer morbidity and mortality.

As with any screening, there are risks associated with lung cancer screening. Examples include complications related to biopsy procedures or resection of benign lung nodules. When lung cancer screening is conducted among high-risk individuals, the benefits of LDCT screening are found to outweigh the potential harms.<sup>(43)</sup> Therefore, shared information for decisionmaking between the individual and their healthcare provider is also important.<sup>(44)</sup>

Opportunistic screening also presents a series of risks because it does not follow a set of regulations and is not monitored. For example, a potential risk is inappropriate screening of people who do not have a high risk of developing lung cancer. Another potential risk is that screening may be done by physicians who lack the necessary expertise or resources to appropriately interpret the scan, provide follow-up of abnormal results, diagnose lung cancer or offer treatment for early lung cancer. Opportunistic screening is also less likely to be connected to appropriate, evidence-based smoking cessation supports for current smokers. The CTFPHC guidelines recommend lung cancer screening only within organized programs.

Implementation of organized screening programs has been identified as an action in the 2019 to 2029 Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control.<sup>(45)</sup> There is a publicly funded lung cancer screening pilot trial in Ontario aimed at determining how best to implement organized screening in the province. In addition, British Columbia and Alberta have ongoing research studies aimed at determining how best to screen for lung cancer.<sup>(46-50)</sup> All three efforts use a lung cancer risk prediction tool called the PLCOm2012 model.<sup>(51)</sup> The move to the PLCOm2012 model to determine eligibility for screening is based on studies that showed using this risk prediction tool has several benefits over using age and pack-years as criteria.<sup>(51,52)</sup> For example, the model (1) led to fewer people being screened, (2) identified a higher percentage of lung cancer cases and (3) resulted in a lower percentage of false positives.

While about 10% to 20% of screening-aged adults in the general population smoke,<sup>(28)</sup> about half of individuals who meet lung cancer screening eligibility criteria are active smokers.<sup>(48)</sup> This reinforces the importance of integrating smoking cessation into lung cancer screening programs and explains why it is a crucial part of the CTFPHC's recommendation. For former smokers, screening is one of the best options to reduce their risk of dying from lung cancer.



Efforts are underway to support implementation of organized lung cancer screening programs in Canada.

Box C provides additional information on the potential impact of lung cancer screening on outcomes in Canada. Box D sheds light on socio-economic disparities in lung cancer outcomes that reinforce the important need to ensure universal and equitable access to proven interventions, like lung cancer screening.

## Treatment

Lung cancer and its associated care has a tremendous impact on Canadians, their loved ones and the Canadian healthcare system. The main types of lung cancer treatment are surgery, radiation, chemotherapy and palliative care (i.e., symptom management). The most appropriate treatment depends upon the stage and histologic type of the cancer, as well as the health of the individual.

Surgery typically offers the best chance for successful treatment or disease management, but only a small percentage of people diagnosed with lung cancer are eligible for surgery with curative intent. Radiation therapy, especially with new advances in how it is delivered. offers a potentially curative treatment option for individuals who are not well enough to have surgery. Radiation also plays an important part in symptom control for people diagnosed with more advanced stage disease. Chemotherapy can increase the chance of successful treatment for some people with lung cancer when it is given after surgery. It is also used for lung cancers that have spread, with the aim of extending survival and improving quality of life. Targeted therapy (usually pill-based) and, increasingly, immunotherapy may work better than chemotherapy in lung cancers that have spread or may be added to chemotherapy, depending on extra tests of the cancer cells.

The most overlooked treatment option is palliative care.<sup>(53)</sup> While often associated with endof-life care, in reality palliative care focuses on the comfort and wellness of people with cancer regardless of their prognosis.<sup>(54)</sup> Palliative care can extend survival and enhance quality of life.<sup>(55)</sup> It should be a fundamental part of the treatment plan for all people with lung cancer.

## Box C The projected impact of lung cancer screening

Contributed by Canadian Partnership Against Cancer

### Setting

Using the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer's microsimulation model, OncoSim,<sup>(6)</sup> an analysis was conducted to project the lifetime impact of lung cancer screening with LDCT in Canada for a cohort of individuals eligible for screening in the next 20 years (2020 to 2039). This work was conducted by the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer to help provinces and territories develop business plans for implementing programs that optimize the quality and impact of lung cancer screening.

The analysis included three scenarios that are commonly considered by provinces and territories:

- 1. continue with no screening
- offer annual screening up to three times to high-risk individuals aged 55 to 74 years (referred to here as "Annual x3")
- offer screening every two years until the person is ineligible due to their age (up to 10 times) to high-risk individuals aged 55 to 74 years (referred to here as "Biennial x10")

In each scenario, it was assumed that lung cancer screening would start in 2020, reach a 40% participation rate in the subsequent 10 years and participants would have a rescreening rate of 70%. Also, smoking cessation would be offered to current smokers at each screening visit. An earlier analysis showed that integrating smoking cessation with lung cancer screening would prevent more lung cancer cases and save more life-years.<sup>(56)</sup>

Additional details on the methods are provided in the *Appendix*.

### Impact of lung cancer screening

Screening could detect lung cancer earlier in a cohort of highrisk individuals eligible for lung cancer screening in the next 20 years in Canada. This could lead to 5,000 to 11,000 fewer lung cancer deaths in Canada over the lifetime of the cohort.

### Cost-effectiveness of lung cancer screening

Over the lifetime of the cohort, lung cancer screening in high-risk individuals would be more clinically effective than no screening, but it would also cost more. Compared to no screening, the two lung cancer screening strategies cost less than \$25,000 per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) gained. This is considered highly cost-effective given the frequently used cost-effectiveness threshold in Canada is \$50,000 per QALY gained.<sup>(57)</sup>

### Conclusion

Lung cancer screening in a cohort of high-risk individuals could prevent 5,000 to 11,000 lung cancer deaths over the cohort's lifetime. The two commonly considered screening strategies (every year up to three times and every two years until the person is ineligible because of their age) are expected to be highly cost-effective.



## Box D Equity and lung cancer

Contributed by Canadian Partnership Against Cancer

Canada has a publicly funded healthcare system intended to support equitable care for all.

Analysis of newly available data on income and other socio-economic factors indicate that there are disparities between access to care and outcomes for people with cancer who have high or low incomes. A full report on findings from this analysis will be featured in an upcoming report by the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. Below is a preview of select findings.

### Preview of findings from the Partnership's upcoming report

- People of low income are more likely to be diagnosed with lung cancer than people of high income.
- People of low income who are diagnosed with lung cancer are more likely to be diagnosed at a late stage than people of high income. Specifically, Figure D1 shows the percentage of people diagnosed with lung cancer at stage 3 or 4 was 4% higher for people in the lowest family income quintile compared with the highest. While 4% may seem small, it means that in 2020, a projected 300 lower-income Canadians would be diagnosed at a late stage (stage 3 or 4) rather than early stage (stage 1 or 2), when the probability of surviving is substantially better.
- Even when diagnosed early, when the chance of complete removal of the tumor is high, people of low income are less likely to receive curative surgery than people of high income.
- Figure D2 indicates lower survival among individuals of lower income than higher income, even when diagnosed at the same stage. The substantial decreases in three-year observed survival by stage emphasize the importance of early diagnosis on survival.



Figure D1 Distribution of lung cancer cases by stage at diagnosis and family income

#### Q=quintile

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Quintiles are shown from lowest (Q1) to highest (Q5). **Analysis by:** Performance, Canadian Partnership Against Cancer

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016) and T1 Family File (2017)

These and other results in the report reinforce the important need to ensure universal and equitable access to proven interventions to reduce lung cancer risk and improve survival outcomes. Additional investigation is also needed to better understand the factors underlying these inequities. This is further discussed in the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer's upcoming report.

In alignment with priorities of the 2019–2029 <u>Canadian</u> <u>Strategy for Cancer Control</u>, implementing lung cancer screening programs and increasing access to smoking cessation supports are two examples of interventions that will advance our efforts to reduce the inequities faced by people with lung cancer in Canada. As steward of the Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control, the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer is leading this work with policy makers and cancer programs across the country.

## Box D Equity and lung cancer (continued)

### Linking cancer data to advance research and action on equity

The findings above are made possible through analysis of data linked as part of a collaborative effort of the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer and Statistics Canada to link the Canadian Cancer Registry to datasets containing socio-economic, treatment and mortality information at the individual level. This allows researchers to investigate disparities in cancer in Canada in ways not previously possible.

The upcoming report mentioned above will explore in more detail inequities among groups of people as they move through the lung cancer journey, including First Nations, Inuit and Métis; lower-income Canadians; immigrants; and people living in rural and remote regions of Canada. Figure D2 Age-standardized, three-year stage-specific observed survival rates for lung cancer, by income quintile, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2010–2011



#### Q=quintile

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. This figure shows estimates of three-year observed survival, which is different from the three-year predicted net survival shown elsewhere in the report. See <u>Appendix</u> for details. Quintiles are shown from lowest (Q1) to highest (Q5).

Analysis by: Performance, Canadian Partnership Against Cancer

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2015), T1 Family File (1992–2015) and Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database (1992–2014)

The contents of this box were received after the peer-review process was complete so have not been peer reviewed (see <u>Appendix</u>).

## International comparison

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer incidence and death in the world, accounting for an estimated 2.1 million diagnoses and 1.8 million deaths in 2018.<sup>(58)</sup> Canada has among the highest rates of lung cancer incidence and mortality in the world.<sup>(58)</sup> Image C shows rates are indeed generally higher in many high-income countries (including many European countries, Canada and the United States) and are low in many African countries. Some of this pattern may be attributed to differences in the quality of reporting of lung cancer deaths around the world, as well as differences in life expectancy and exposure to lung cancer risk factors.

Despite the high incidence and mortality of lung cancer in this country, a recent study showed that Canada has among the highest lung cancer survival in the world.<sup>(2)</sup> The high incidence of lung cancer and poor survival around the world underscore the importance of improving lung cancer prevention, detection and treatment globally. <figure><figure>

All rights reserved. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization / International Agency for Research on Cancer concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate borderlines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

(http://gco.iarc.fr/today) World Health Organization

Graph production: IARC Data source: GLOBOCAN 2018

Canada has among the highest lung cancer incidence and mortality rates in the world, but its survival is also among the highest. Image C Estimated age-standardized mortality rates (ASMR) for lung cancer, both sexes, all ages, World, 2018

33

# Conclusion

Tremendous progress has been made in many aspects of lung cancer. Incidence and mortality rates for the disease are decreasing in both sexes, in most provinces and territories, in most age groups and for most histologic types. This progress is largely the result of success in prevention and cessation of tobacco use.

Still, there is a lot left to do. Lung cancer remains the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer death in Canada, accounting for 1 in 4 of all cancer deaths. Fortunately, important opportunities to reduce incidence and mortality exist, including enhancing lung cancer prevention and supporting organized screening programs. Also, better understanding the trends reported here will help move this issue forward.

### Addressing stigma

Despite some improvement in lung cancer survival over time, it continues to have one of the lowest cancer survivals of all cancer types.<sup>(2)</sup> As a result, there is a not a big survivor population to advocate for the needs of people with lung cancer.

The fact that lung cancer currently receives only about 6% of research funding,<sup>(59)</sup> despite causing 1 in 4 cancer deaths,<sup>(1)</sup> may help explain the limited progress. Donations toward lung cancer are also estimated to be low.<sup>(60)</sup> Lung cancer is largely considered underfunded relative to the immense impact it has on people in Canada and the Canadian healthcare system. Stigma may be a reason why the attention lung cancer receives does not align with its burden. Many members of the public continue to view smoking as a bad habit rather than a serious addiction. When people who smoke are diagnosed with lung cancer, they often feel ashamed and blamed by others.<sup>(61)</sup> It is also generally assumed that lung cancer is always caused by smoking. In reality, the percentage of lung cancer cases due to smoking is decreasing. Currently about 28% of lung cancer diagnoses are not attributed to smoking.<sup>(12)</sup>

Lung cancer stigma, whether real or perceived, can be a barrier to high-quality care and support.<sup>(62)</sup> Efforts to reduce stigma may be fundamental to improving clinical care and quality of life for people diagnosed with the disease.

## **Enhancing prevention**

About 86% of lung cancer cases are attributable to modifiable risk factors, making it one of the most preventable cancers in Canada.<sup>(8)</sup> Tobacco awareness and tobacco control polices have had a dramatic effect on lung cancer in Canada. If Canada reaches its target of decreasing smoking prevalence to less than 5% by 2035, an estimated 50,225 lung cancer cases will be prevented by 2042.<sup>(9)</sup> Unfortunately, the high and increasing use of e-cigarettes among youth<sup>(35)</sup> may compromise cancer control efforts by possibly re-normalizing tobacco smoking. Efforts to increase the legal age of use, restrict product flavours and decrease access may help mitigate these risks. In the coming years, we may also see reductions in lung cancer incidence due to the ban on asbestos and radon mitigation strategies. Additional strategies to target the exposures in high-risk workplaces and support smoking cessation are needed to further reduce the impact of lung cancer in Canada.

# Implementing organized screening programs

Earlier detection of lung cancer is key to improving survival and mortality. Half of all lung cancer cases are diagnosed at stage 4, at which point treatment with curative intent is rarely administered and survival is extremely low. In contrast, three-year net survival rises to 71% when lung cancers are diagnosed at stage 1.

Opportunistic lung cancer screening is currently occurring in at least six provinces,<sup>(38)</sup> but the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPHC) guidelines recommend lung cancer screening only within organized programs.<sup>(41,42)</sup> Lung cancer is the only cancer where organized screening is recommended by the CTFPHC but programs do not yet exist. This report shows organized lung cancer screening in Canada over the next 20 years is a cost-effective strategy that can lead to between 7,000 and 17,000 fewer stage 4 diagnoses and 5,000 to 11,000 fewer deaths.

# Better understanding the patterns in lung cancer

Some of the patterns discussed in this report are relatively well understood, such as the decreases in incidence and mortality over time and the convergence of rates between sexes for most histologic types. Other trends are less clear.

Notably, it is not fully understood why adenocarcinoma is the only histologic type where the rate is higher in females than males, though the pattern has been reported elsewhere as well.<sup>(18)</sup> Interestingly, adenocarcinoma is the histologic type most commonly diagnosed among non-smokers. Information on smoking status by lung cancer type is limited in Canada, but data outside Canada suggests differences between females and males.<sup>(63)</sup> For example, in the United States and Europe an estimated 20% of females with lung cancer have never smoked compared with 2% to 6% of males.<sup>(64)</sup> This pattern is even more pronounced in Asian populations.<sup>(65)</sup> The higher percentage of lung cancers diagnosed in never-smoking females compared with neversmoking males suggests lung cancer may develop differently in females than in males.

Similarly, it has been proposed that non–small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is a different entity in people who never smoked than in people who used to smoke or currently smoke. Greater understanding of the interplay between smoking and lung cancer in Canada may help us better interpret the patterns reported here, such as the finding that the lung cancer incidence rate is higher in females than males among Canadians younger than 55 years of age.

Patterns were not explored by ethnicity or immigration status. Given Canada's high ethnic diversity, the previously noted sex differences in lung cancer among never-smokers by country of origin and differences in exposure to risk factors around the world, it would be interesting to explore the impact of ethnicity and immigration status on lung cancer patterns in Canada. For example, it might help explain some of the geographic variation and changes over time reported here.

Additional research is needed to understand the patterns observed in this report. This information will be important for developing more appropriate lung cancer control strategies.



# References

- Brenner D, Weir H, Demers A, Ellison L, Louzado C, Shaw A, et al. Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020. CMAJ. 2020;192(9):E199–E205.
- Arnold M, Rutherford MJ, Bardot A, Ferlay J, Andersson TM, Myklebust TA, et al. Progress in cancer survival, mortality, and incidence in seven high-income countries 1995–2014 (ICBP SURVMARK-2): a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(11):1493–505.
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee [Internet]. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2019. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2019. Available at: <u>www.cancer.ca/</u> <u>Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2019-EN</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Ellison LF. Progress in net cancer survival in Canada over 20 years. Health Rep. 2018;29(9):10–8. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/82-003-v/2018009/article/00002-eng.pdf?st=dcMVO\_iM</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Sam D, Cheung WY. A population-level comparison of cancer-related and non-cancer-related health care costs using publicly available provincial administrative data. Curr Oncol. 2019;26(2):94–7.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer [Internet]. OncoSim model. Available at: <u>www.oncosim.ca</u> (accessed on March 2020).
- Ezeife DA, Morganstein BJ, Lau S, Law JH, Le LW, Bredle J, et al. Financial burden among patients with lung cancer in a publically funded health care system. Clin Lung Cancer. 2019;20(4):231–6.
- Canadian Population Attributable Risk of Cancer (ComPARe) study [Internet]. Percentage of cancers that are preventable in Canada 2019. Available at: <u>https://prevent.cancer.ca/resources/infographics</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Poirier AE, Ruan Y, Grevers X, Walter SD, Villeneuve PJ, Friedenreich CM, et al. Estimates of the current and future burden of cancer attributable to active and passive tobacco smoking in Canada. Prev Med. 2019;122:9–19.
- Gogna P, Narain TA, O'Sullivan DE, Villeneuve PJ, Demers PA, Hystad P, et al. Estimates of the current and future burden of lung cancer attributable to residential radon exposure in Canada. Prev Med. 2019;122:100–8.
- Gogna P, Narain TA, O'Sullivan DE, Villeneuve PJ, Demers PA, Hystad P, et al. Estimates of the current and future burden of lung cancer attributable to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Canada. Prev Med. 2019;122:91–9.
- Poirier AE, Ruan Y, Volesky KD, King WD, O'Sullivan DE, Gogna P, et al. The current and future burden of cancer attributable to modifiable risk factors in Canada: Summary of results. Prev Med. 2019;122:140–7.
- Labreche F, Kim J, Song C, Pahwa M, Ge CB, Arrandale VH, et al. The current burden of cancer attributable to occupational exposures in Canada. Prev Med. 2019;122:128– 39.
- Cancer Care Ontario, Occupational Cancer Research Centre. Burden of occupational cancer in Canada: Major workplace carcinogens and prevention of exposure. Toronto, ON: 2019.
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Nicholson AG, Yatabe Y, Austin JHM, Beasley MB, et al. The 2015 World Health Organization Classification of Lung Tumors: Impact of Genetic, Clinical and Radiologic Advances Since the 2004 Classification. J Thorac Oncol. 2015;10(9):1243–60.

- 16. Tobacco Use in Canada (School of Public Health and Health Systems, University of Waterloo) [Internet]. Historical trends in smoking prevalence. Available at: https://uwaterloo.ca/tobacco-use-canada/adult-tobacco-use/smoking-canada/ historical-trends-smoking-prevalence (accessed March 2020).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation Development (OECD) [Internet]. Daily smokers 2015. Available at: <u>https://data.oecd.org/healthrisk/daily-smokers.htm</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Houston KA, Henley SJ, Li J, White MC, Richards TB. Patterns in lung cancer incidence rates and trends by histologic type in the United States, 2004–2009. Lung Cancer. 2014;86(1):22–8.
- Stellman SD, Muscat JE, Thompson S, Hoffmann D, Wynder EL. Risk of squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma of the lung in relation to lifetime filter cigarette smoking. Cancer. 1997;80(3):382–8.
- Burns DM, Anderson CM, Gray N. Do changes in cigarette design influence the rise in adenocarcinoma of the lung? Cancer Causes Control. 2011;22(1):13–22.
- 21. Hoffmann D, Hoffmann I. The changing cigarette, 1950–1995. J Toxicol Environ Health. 1997;50(4):307–64.
- Vander/Meer R, Chambers S, Van Dam A, Cutz JC, Goffin JR, Ellis PM. Diagnosing lung cancer in the 21st century: are we ready to meet the challenge of individualized care? Curr Oncol. 2015;22(4):272–8.
- Cooper WA, O'Toole S, Boyer M, Horvath L, Mahar A. What's new in non-small cell lung cancer for pathologists: the importance of accurate subtyping, EGFR mutations and ALK rearrangements. Pathology. 2011;43(2):103–15.
- 24. Ellison LF. An empirical evaluation of period survival analysis using data from the Canadian Cancer Registry. Ann Epidemiol. 2006;16(3):191–6.
- Brenner H, Arndt V. Recent increase in cancer survival according to age: higher survival in all age groups, but widening age gradient. Cancer Causes Control. 2004;15(9):903– 10.
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Table 13-10-0751-01. Number of prevalent cases and prevalence proportions of primary cancer, by prevalence duration, cancer type, attained age group and sex. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb1/en/tv. action?pid=1310075101</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Poirier AE, Grundy A, Khandwala F, Tamminen S, Friedenreich CM, Brenner DR. Cancer incidence attributable to tobacco in Alberta, Canada, in 2012. CMAJ Open. 2016;4(4):E578–E87.
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Table 13-10-0096-01. Health characteristics, annual estimates. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv. action?pid=1310009601</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Table 13-10-0113-01. Health characteristics, two-year period estimates. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv.action?pid=1310011301</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Ontario Health [Internet]. Vaping products including e-cigarettes. Evidence Summary. Available at: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/content/vaping-products-includinge-cigarettes</u> (accessed May 2020).
- 31. Berenbaum E, Keller-Olaman S, Manson H, Moloughney B, Muir S, Simms C, et al. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). Current evidence on e-cigarettes: a summary of potential impacts. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018.

- 32. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Smoking Cessation. A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, 2020.
- Government of Canada [Internet]. Vaping-associated lung illness. Available at: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/vaping-pulmonary-illness.</u> <u>html</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Statistics Canada. [Internet]. Canadian tobacco, alcohol and drugs survey (CTADS) summary of results for 2017. Ottawa: Health Canada; 2017. Available at: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-tobacco-alcohol-drugssurvey/2017-summary.html (accessed March 2020).
- Hammond D, Reid JL, Rynard VL, Fong GT, Cummings KM, McNeill A, et al. Prevalence of vaping and smoking among adolescents in Canada, England, and the United States: repeat national cross sectional surveys. BMJ. 2019;365:12219.
- 36. Weeks C. How the vaping industry is targeting teens and getting away with it. Globe and Mail. 2019 November 16.
- Ghasemiesfe M, Barrow B, Leonard S, Keyhani S, Korenstein D. Association between marijuana use and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(11):e1916318.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer [Internet]. Lung cancer screening in Canada: environmental scan 2018. Available at: <u>https://s22457.pcdn.co/wp-content/</u> uploads/2019/04/Lung-Cancer-Screening-Environmental-Scan EN 2018 final.pdf (accessed March 2020).
- National Lung Screening Trial Research Team, Aberle DR, Adams AM, Berg CD, Black WC, Clapp JD, et al. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. New Engl J Med. 2011;365(5):395–409.
- 40. de Koning HJ, van der Aalst CM, de Jong PA, Scholten ET, Nackaerts K, Heuvelmans MA, et al. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with volume CT screening in a randomized trial. New Engl J Med. 2020;382(6):503–13.
- Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. Recommendations on screening for lung cancer. CMAJ. 2016;188(6):425–32.
- Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care [Internet]. Lung Cancer (2016) Summary of recommendations for clinicians and policy-makers. Available at: <u>https://canadiantaskforce.ca/guidelines/published-guidelines/lung-cancer/</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Cressman S, Peacock SJ, Tammemagi MC, Evans WK, Leighl NB, Goffin JR, et al. The cost-effectiveness of high-risk lung cancer screening and drivers of program efficiency. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12(8):1210–22.
- Brenner AT, Malo TL, Margolis M, Elston Lafata J, James S, Vu MB, et al. Evaluating shared decision making for lung cancer screening. JAMA Intern Med. 2018;178(10):1311–6.
- Canadian Partnership Against Cancer [Internet]. 2019–2029 Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control. Available at: <u>https://s22457.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/</u> <u>Canadian-Strategy-Cancer-Control-2019-2029-EN.pdf</u> (accessed March 2020).
- University of Calgary [Internet]. Alberta Lung Cancer Screening Program. Available at: http://wcm.ucalgary.ca/lungscreening/home/lung-cancer-screening-study (accessed March 2020).
- BC Cancer [Internet]. The BC Lung Screen Trial. Available at: <u>http://www.bccancer.bc.</u> <u>ca/our-research/participate/lung-health</u> (accessed March 2020).
- 48. Tammemagi MC, Schmidt H, Martel S, McWilliams A, Goffin JR, Johnston MR, et al. Participant selection for lung cancer screening by risk modelling (the Pan-Canadian Early Detection of Lung Cancer (PanCan) study): a single-arm, prospective study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(11):1523–31.
- Lam S. Risk assessment to establish screening programs: the Canadian point of view. J Thorac Oncol. 2019;14(10):S123–S4.
- Lam S, Myers R, Atkar-Khattra S, Yuan R, Yee J, English J, et al. Prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of the International Lung Screen Trial Lung Nodule Management Protocol. J Thorac Oncol. 2018;13(10):S362–S3.
- Tammemagi MC, Katki HA, Hocking WG, Church TR, Caporaso N, Kvale PA, et al. Selection criteria for lung-cancer screening. New Engl J Med. 2013;368(8):728–36.
- 52. Tammemagi MC, Church TR, Hocking WG, Silvestri GA, Kvale PA, Riley TL, et al. Evaluation of the lung cancer risks at which to screen ever- and never-smokers: screening rules applied to the PLCO and NLST cohorts. PLoS Med. 2014;11(12):e1001764.
- Rosenblum AM, Chasen M. Comprehensive metastatic lung cancer care must include palliative care. Curr Oncol. 2018;25(3):192–3.
- 54. Cancer care during the last phase of life. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(5):1986-96.
- Temel JS, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, Gallagher ER, Admane S, Jackson VA, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. New Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):733–42.
- Evans WK, Gauvreau CL, Flanagan WM, Memon S, Yong JHE, Goffin JR, et al. Clinical impact and cost-effectiveness of integrating smoking cessation into lung cancer screening: a microsimulation model. CMAJ Open 2020;8:E585-92.
- Griffiths E, Vadlamudi N. Cadth's \$50,000 cost-effectiveness threshold: fact or fiction? Value Health. 2016;19:A488.
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today. Lyon, France. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2018. Available at: <u>https://gco.iarc.fr/today</u> (accessed March 2020).
- 59. Canadian Cancer Research Alliance [Internet]. Ranked results: 2016. Available at: https://www.ccra-acrc.ca/tools/ranked-results/ (accessed March 2020).
- 60. Thomson G, Greve Young K. Cancer in Canada: Framing the Crisis and Previewing the Opportunity for Donors [Internet]. Charity Intelligence Canada; 2011. Available at: <u>https://www.charityintelligence.ca/images/Ci Cancer Report April 2011.pdf</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Hamann HA, Ostroff JS, Marks EG, Gerber DE, Schiller JH, Lee SJ. Stigma among patients with lung cancer: a patient-reported measurement model. Psychooncology. 2014;23(1):81–92.
- Hamann HA, Ver Hoeve ES, Carter-Harris L, Studts JL, Ostroff JS. Multilevel opportunities to address lung cancer stigma across the cancer control continuum. J Thorac Oncol. 2018;13(8):1062–75.
- 63. Egleston BL, Meireles SI, Flieder DB, Clapper ML. Population-based trends in lung cancer incidence in women. Semin Oncol. 2009;36(6):506–15.
- Sun S, Schiller JH, Gazdar AF. Lung cancer in never smokers a different disease. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7(10):778–90.
- North CM, Christiani DC. Women and lung cancer: what is new? Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;25(2):87–94.

## Tables

## TABLE 1 Age-standardized incidence rates for lung cancer, by sex, age group, histologic type and geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016

	_	Cases per 100,000 (95% CI)									
	Во	th sexes		Males	F	emales					
All lung cancer	65.7	(65.3–66.2)	72.7	(72.1–73.4)	60.7	(60.2–61.3)					
Age group (years)											
0–44	1.1	(1.1–1.2)	1.0	(0.9–1.1)	1.2	(1.1–1.4)					
45–54	26.7	(26.0–27.5)	23.9	(22.9–24.8)	29.6	(28.5–30.6)					
55–64	108.8	(107.3–110.4)	109.6	(107.5–111.8)	108.1	(105.9–110.2)					
65–74	270.7	(267.7–273.7)	288.5	(284.0-292.9)	254.2	(250.2–258.3)					
75–84	409.8	(404.8–414.8)	477.7	(469.7-485.8)	354.5	(348.3–360.8)					
85+	334.1	(327.1–340.8)	483.3	(469.4-497.5)	255.3	(248.0–262.8)					
Histologic type											
Adenocarcinoma	27.6	(27.3–27.9)	26.8	(26.4–27.2)	28.7	(28.4–29.1)					
Squamous cell carcinoma	11.3	(11.1–11.4)	15.3	(15.0–15.6)	7.9	(7.7–8.1)					
Large cell carcinoma	0.5	(4.4-4.6)	0.6	(0.5–0.6)	0.4	(0.3–0.4)					
Non-small cell lung cancer, NOS	11.2	(7.2–7.4)	12.8	(12.5–13.0)	10.2	(9.9–10.4)					
Small cell lung cancer	6.9	(6.8–7.1)	7.3	(7.1–7.6)	6.6	(6.4–6.8)					
Unspecified	8.1	(8.0-8.3)	9.9	(9.7–10.2)	6.9	(6.7–7.1)					
Geographic region											
Nunavut Territory	168.0	(131.1–204.8)	161.7	(116.1–242.7)	174.3	(123.8–261.6)					
Northwest Territories	95.5	(75.7–115.3)	103.4	(73.8–133.0)	88.1	(63.1–120.9)					
Yukon Territory	67.8	(53.1–82.5)	78.0	(55.9–100.2)	56.9	(39.3–81.1)					
British Columbia	59.9	(59.0-60.9)	63.6	(62.2-65.0)	57.4	(56.1–58.6)					
Alberta	63.6	(62.4–64.8)	68.7	(66.8–70.6)	60.0	(58.4–61.7)					
Saskatchewan	67.5	(65.3–69.7)	73.1	(69.8-76.4)	63.6	(60.7–66.6)					
Manitoba	69.0	(67.0–71.1)	73.2	(70.0–76.3)	66.6	(63.8–69.4)					
Ontario	64.8	(64.2–65.4)	72.5	(71.6–73.5)	59.3	(58.6–60.1)					
New Brunswick	82.7	(80.0-85.3)	99.5	(95.2–103.9)	70.6	(67.2–73.9)					
Nova Scotia	84.2	(81.8–86.6)	95.4	(91.6–99.2)	76.4	(73.3–79.5)					
Prince Edward Island	78.0	(72.0-83.9)	87.0	(77.6–96.5)	72.0	(64.2–79.7)					
Newfoundland and Labrador	75.1	(72.0–78.1)	90.3	(85.4–95.3)	62.5	(58.7–66.4)					

Cl=confidence interval; NOS=not otherwise specified

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Age-standardized incidence rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>). Age-specific rates were based on counts randomly rounded to a base of five and were not age-standardized.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

Canadian Cancer Society • Canadian Cancer Statistics: A 2020 special report on lung cancer

 TABLE 2 Age-standardized mortality rates for lung cancer, by sex, age group and geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2013–2017

		Case	es per 100	),000 (95% CI)		
	Bot	th sexes	ſ	Viales	F	emales
All lung cancer	47.5	(47.1–47.8)	55.0	(54.4–55.5)	41.9	(41.4–42.3)
Age group (years)						
0–44	0.5	(0.5–0.6)	0.4	0.4–0.5)	0.6	(0.5–0.7)
45–54	14.7	(14.2–15.2)	14.0	(13.3–14.7)	15.4	(14.6–16.2)
55–64	67.2	(66.0–68.4)	71.2	(69.5–73.0)	63.2	(61.6–64.9)
65–74	180.7	(178.3–183.1)	200.5	(196.9–204.1)	162.3	(159.2–165.5)
75–84	327.1	(322.7–331.5)	387.9	(380.8–395.1)	277.4	(272.0–282.9)
85+	352.1	(345.2–359.1)	491.7	(478.0–505.7)	276.9	(269.4–284.6)
Geographic region						
Nunavut Territory	178.9	(131.5–226.3)	172.0	(116.3–263.9)	188.6	(122.0–295.3)
Northwest Territories	79.4	(61.1–97.6)	79.0	(55.6–111.8)	79.6	(55.2–112.3)
Yukon Territory	46.2	(33.9–58.6)	51.2	(34.2–77.3)	42.0	(27.1–63.4)
British Columbia	43.9	(43.1–44.7)	47.8	(46.5–49.0)	41.0	(39.9–42.0)
Alberta	45.8	(44.8–46.8)	52.0	(50.4–53.6)	41.1	(39.8–42.4)
Saskatchewan	50.3	(48.4–52.1)	55.0	(52.1–57.8)	46.9	(44.4–49.4)
Manitoba	51.4	(49.6–53.1)	57.9	(55.1–60.7)	46.8	(44.5–49.0)
Ontario	46.0	(45.6–46.5)	54.2	(53.4–55.0)	40.0	(39.3–40.6)
New Brunswick	60.1	(57.9–62.3)	76.5	(72.7–80.3)	48.3	(45.5–51.0)
Nova Scotia	62.5	(60.4–64.5)	73.8	(70.5–77.1)	54.2	(51.7–56.8)
Prince Edward Island	56.3	(51.3–61.3)	70.2	(61.7–78.6)	46.0	(39.9–52.1)
Newfoundland and Labrador	57.4	(54.8–60.1)	72.7	(68.2–77.3)	45.2	(42.0-48.5)

Cl=confidence interval

**Note:** Quebec is excluded from incidence rates because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry and is excluded from mortality rates for consistency with the incidence data. Age-standardized incidence rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>). Age-specific rates were based on counts randomly rounded to a base of five and were not age-standardized.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Vital Statistics Death Database

				Ca	ses per 100,000 (95% Cl)						
	Stage 1		S	tage 2	Stage 3		Stage 4		Unknown		
All	12.8	(12.6–13.0)	5.0	(4.9–5.2)	12.0	(11.8–12.2)	30.5	(30.2–30.8)	1.2	(1.2–1.3)	
Sex											
Males	12.3	(12.0–12.6)	5.6	(5.4–5.8)	13.4	(13.2–13.7)	35.1	(34.7–35.6)	1.5	(1.4–1.6)	
Females	13.5	(13.2–13.8)	4.6	(4.4–4.8)	11.0	(10.7–11.2)	26.9	(26.5–27.3)	1.0	(1.0–1.1)	
Age group (years)											
0–44	0.2	(0.2–0.3)	0.1	(0.1–0.1)	0.2	(0.1–0.2)	0.5	(0.5–0.6)	0.0	(0.0-0.0)	
45–54	4.3	(4.0–4.6)	1.6	(1.5–1.8)	4.7	(4.4–5.0)	14.3	(13.8–14.8)	0.2	(0.1–0.3)	
55–64	20.2	(19.6–20.9)	8.0	(7.5–8.4)	21.0	(20.4–21.7)	53.2	(52.1–54.3)	1.1	(0.9–1.3)	
65–74	57.3	(55.9–58.7)	22.5	(21.6–23.3)	51.5	(50.2–52.8)	122.1	(120.1–124.1)	3.6	(3.3–4.0)	
75–84	84.2	(82.0–86.5)	32.6	(31.2–34.0)	74.5	(72.4–76.7)	181.9	(178.6–185.2)	9.6	(8.8–10.4)	
85+	49.2	(46.6–51.9)	21.5	(19.8–23.3)	48.1	(45.6–50.8)	154.6	(149.9–159.3)	17.1	(15.6–18.8)	
Histologic type											
Adenocarcinoma	7.0	(6.9–7.1)	2.2	(2.1–2.2)	4.1	(4.0–4.2)	13.0	(12.8–13.2)	0.3	(0.2–0.3)	
Squamous cell carcinoma	2.6	(2.5–2.6)	1.5	(1.4–1.6)	3.2	(3.1–3.3)	3.5	(3.4–3.6)	0.2	(0.2-0.2)	
Large cell carcinoma	0.1	(0.1–0.1)	0.1	(0.0–0.1)	0.1	(0.1–0.1)	0.2	(0.2–0.2)	0.0	(0.0-0.0)	
Non-small cell lung cancer, NOS	2.1	(2.0–2.1)	0.7	(0.7–0.8)	2.0	(1.9–2.1)	5.7	(5.6–5.8)	0.2	(0.2–0.3)	
Small cell lung cancer	0.3	(0.2–0.3)	0.2	(0.2–0.3)	1.7	(1.6–1.7)	4.5	(4.4–4.6)	0.1	(0.1-0.1)	
Unspecified	0.9	(0.8–0.9)	0.3	(0.3–0.3)	0.9	(0.9–1.0)	3.5	(3.4–3.6)	0.5	(0.5–0.5)	
Geographic region											
Nunavut Territory	33.0	(18.0–68.5)	15.6	(7.0–47.0)	35.2	(21.5–68.8)	57.0	(37.2–95.7)	2.7	(0.1–33.9)	
Northwest Territories	12.8	(6.7–23.6)	10.9	(4.9–22.0)	25.2	(16.2–38.7)	39.7	(28.2–55.4)	5.7	(1.6–15.3)	
Yukon Territory	7.1	(3.1–15.0)	5.3	(2.1–12.5)	21.7	(14.1–33.0)	30.9	(21.9–43.3)	2.8	(0.7–9.2)	
British Columbia	10.1	(9.7–10.5)	4.5	(4.3–4.8)	12.3	(11.9–12.7)	29.5	(28.9–30.2)	3.2	(3.0-3.4)	
Alberta	13.0	(12.4–13.6)	5.3	(4.9–5.6)	11.3	(10.8–11.8)	33.1	(32.2–33.9)	0.8	(0.6–0.9)	
Saskatchewan	10.8	(9.9–11.6)	4.6	(4.0–5.2)	12.8	(11.9–13.8)	37.7	(36.1–39.4)	1.2	(0.9–1.4)	
Manitoba	14.8	(13.8–15.7)	5.7	(5.1–6.3)	13.7	(12.8–14.7)	33.7	(32.2–35.1)	1.0	(0.8-1.2)	
Ontario	12.5	(12.3–12.8)	4.8	(4.6–4.9)	11.1	(10.9–11.3)	27.9	(27.5–28.3)	0.6	(0.5–0.7)	
New Brunswick	20.9	(19.5–22.2)	7.7	(6.9–8.5)	17.1	(15.9–18.3)	36.1	(34.4–37.9)	0.4	(0.2–0.6)	
Nova Scotia	18.7	(17.6–19.9)	7.0	(6.3–7.6)	14.5	(13.5–15.4)	41.8	(40.1–43.5)	1.9	(1.6–2.3)	
Prince Edward Island	14.4	(11.9–17.0)	5.4	(4.0–7.3)	17.5	(14.7–20.3)	39.1	(34.9–43.3)	1.1	(0.5-2.1)	
Newfoundland and Labrador	17.9	(16.4–19.4)	5.9	(5.0–6.7)	14.7	(13.3–16.0)	33.9	(31.9–36.0)	2.1	(1.6–2.7)	

TABLE 3 Age-standardized incidence rates for lung cancer, by stage, sex, age group, histologic type and geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016

CI=confidence interval; NOS=not otherwise specified

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Age-standardized incidence rates were calculated using weights from the 2011 Canadian standard population (see <u>Appendix</u>). Age-specific rates were based on counts randomly rounded to a base of five and were not age-standardized.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

Age group		Both sexes				N	lales		Females			
(years)	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value
0–44	1992–2001	-2.0	(-3.1, -0.8)	0.003	1992–2016	-4.0	(-4.4, -3.7)	<0.001	1992–2001	-0.7	(-2.6, 1.2)	0.421
	2001–2016	-4.7	(-5.4, -4.1)	<0.001					2001–2016	-5.0	(-6.1, -3.9)	<0.001
45–54	1992–2012	-2.2	(-2.6, -1.9)	<0.001	1992–2016	-3.5	(-3.7,-3.2)	<0.001	1992–2016	-1.5	(-1.8, -1.1)	<0.001
	2012–2016	-5.5	(-10.1, -0.7)	0.028								
55–64	1992–2016	-2.0	(-2.2, -1.9)	<0.001	1992–2004	-3.6	(-4.0, -3.2)	<0.001	1992–2016	-0.7	(-0.9, -0.5)	<0.001
					2004–2016	-2.3	(-2.9, -1.7)	<0.001				
65–74	1992–2012	-0.4	(-0.6, -0.3)	<0.001	1992–2002	-2.1	(-2.5, -1.8)	<0.001	1992–2006	1.7	(1.4, 2.0)	<0.001
	2012–2016	-2.9	(-4.5, -1.3)	0.001	2002–2012	-1.4	(-1.9, -0.9)	<0.001	2006–2016	0.0	(-0.5, 0.5)	0.972
					2012-2016	-4.3	(-6.4, -2.2)	<0.001				
75–84	1992–2003	0.6	(0.2, 1.0)	0.006	1992–2000	-1.6	(-2.1, -1.1)	<0.001	1992–2012	3.0	(2.7, 3.3)	<0.001
	2003–2012	1.7	(1.0, 2.4)	<0.001	2000-2012	0.1	(-0.3, 0.5)	0.543	2012-2016	-1.4	(-4.4, 1.7)	0.359
	2012–2016	-2.6	(-4.6, -0.6)	0.013	2012-2016	-3.7	(-5.7, -1.6)	0.002				
85+	1992–2016	1.4	(1.1, 1.7)	<0.001	1992–2016	-0.2	(-0.6, 0.1)	0.169	1992–2012	3.5	(3.1, 3.9)	<0.001
									2012–2016	-3.3	(-8.4, 2.0)	0.200

TABLE 4 Age-specific trends in incidence rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 1992–2016

APC=annual percent change; CL=confidence limits

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

		n sexes			N	lales		Females				
	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value	Period	APC	95% CL	p-value
Canada (excluding Quebec)	1992–2003	-0.9	(-1.2, -0.5)	<0.001	1992–2004	-2.2	(-2.5, -1.9)	<0.001	1992–2012	1.0	(0.8, 1.1)	<0.001
	2003-2012	0.1	(-0.4, 0.5)	0.829	2004–2012	-0.7	(-1.4, -0.1)	0.035	2012-2016	-1.9	(-3.4, -0.5)	0.011
	2012-2016	-2.9	(-4.2, -1.6)	< 0.001	2012-2016	-4.0	(-5.5, -2.6)	< 0.001				
Nunavut Territory	1992-2016	-2.9	(-4.8, -1.0)	0.005	_		—	_	1992–2016	-2.8	(-5.1, -0.4)	0.024
Northwest Territories	1992-2016	-0.2	(-1.6, 1.1)	0.705	1992–2016	-0.2	(-1.9, 1.5)	0.823	1992–2016	-0.3	(-2.6, 1.9)	0.755
Yukon Territory	1992-2016	-0.7	(-2.4, 1.1)	0.439	_		—	_	1992–2016	1.0	(1.9, 4.1)	0.479
British Columbia	1992-2016	-1.0	(-1.2, -0.9)	<0.001	1992–2016	-2.0	(-2.2, -1.8)	<0.001	1992–2016	-0.1	(-0.3, 0.2)	0.573
Alberta	1992-2016	-0.4	(-0.6, -0.2)	<0.001	1992–2016	-1.6	(-1.8, -1.3)	<0.001	1992–2004	1.9	(1.1, 2.7)	0.00
									2004–2016	-0.1	(-0.7, 0.5)	0.824
Saskatchewan	1992-2012	0.5	(0.3, 0.7)	<0.001	1992–2016	-1.2	(-1.4, -0.9)	< 0.001	1992-2011	2.5	(2.0, 3.0)	<0.001
	2012-2016	-3.7	(-6.0, -1.2)	0.005					2011-2016	-3.4	(-6.3, -0.4)	0.028
Manitoba	1992-2005	0.0	(-0.5, 0.6)	0.987	1992-2016	-2.0	(-2.2, -1.7)	< 0.001	1992-2002	2.7	(1.4, 4.1)	< 0.001
	2005-2016	-1.5	(-2.2, -0.9)	<0.001					2002–2016	-0.5	(-1.1, 0.2)	0.171
Ontario	1992-2007	-1.1	(-1.4, -0.7)	<0.001	1992–2007	-2.4	(-2.7, -2.0)	<0.001	1992–2007	0.6	(0.3, 0.9)	0.002
	2007-2012	2.0	(-0.1, 4.2)	0.056	2007-2012	1.6	(-0.8, 4.2)	0.183	2007-2012	2.3	(0.2, 4.5)	0.034
	2012-2016	-4.8	(-6.7, -2.9)	< 0.001	2012-2016	-6.3	(-8.5, -4.1)	< 0.001	2012-2016	-3.3	(-5.2, -1.4)	0.002
New Brunswick	1992-2006	0.3	(-0.3, 0.9)	0.317	1992-2016	-1.5	(-1.8, -1.3)	< 0.001	1992-2006	2.6	(1.6, 3.7)	<0.001
	2006-2016	-1.4	(-2.3, -0.5)	0.005					2006-2016	-0.5	(-1.8, 0.8)	0.413
Nova Scotia	1992-2016	-0.5	(-0.8, -0.2)	0.001	1992–2016	-1.7	(-2.1, -1.4)	< 0.001	1992–2016	1.0	(0.7, 1.4)	<0.001
Prince Edward Island	1992-2016	-0.6	(-1.2, 0.0)	0.036	1992–2016	-1.4	(-2.2, -0.7)	< 0.001	1992–2016	0.3	(-0.7, 1.3)	0.505
Newfoundland and Labrador	1992-2016	0.0	(-0.5, 0.6)	0.895	1992–2016	-1.5	(-2.1, -0.9)	<0.001	1992–2016	2.8	(2.0, 3.6)	<0.001

TABLE 5 Geographic region-specific trends in age-standardized incidence rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 1992–2016

APC=annual percent change; CL=confidence limits

**Note:** Trend analyses were conducted using the standard Joinpoint model for all geographic regions except Newfoundland and Labrador, for which the jump model was used (see <u>Appendix</u>). Trends were not available for males for Nunavut Territory and Yukon Territory because the population estimate was zero for at least one of the age groups for one or more years. Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry database (1992–2016)

		1-year	net survi	val (%) (95%	6 CI)	5-year net survival (%) (95% CI)						
	Both sexes		М	ales	Fe	males	Both sexes Males		ales	Females		
All lung cancer	44	(44–45)	40	(39–41)	49	(48–50)	19	(18–19)	15	(15–16)	22	(22–23)
Age group (years)												
15–44	65	(61–69)	60	(53–66)	69	(64–74)	35	(31–39)	36	(31–42)	33	(28–39)
45–54	51	(49–52)	43	(41–46)	57	(54–59)	24	(22–25)	20	(18–22)	27	(25–29)
55–64	49	(49–50)	44	(42–45)	55	(54–57)	22	(21–23)	18	(17–19)	27	(26–28)
65–74	47	(47–48)	43	(42–44)	52	(51–53)	21	(20–21)	17	(16–18)	25	(24–26)
75–84	40	(39–41)	37	(35–38)	44	(42–45)	15	(14–16)	12	(12–13)	18	(17–19)
85-99	30	(29–32)	28	(27–30)	32	(30–34)	9	(7–10)	8	(6–11)	9	(7–11)
Histologic type												
Adenocarcinoma	56	(55–57)	49	(48–50)	62	(61–62)	27	(27–28)	22	(21–23)	32	(31–33)
Squamous cell carcinoma	52	(51–53)	50	(49–52)	54	(52–56)	21	(20–22)	20	(19–21)	24	(22–25)
Large cell carcinoma	41	(36–45)	41	(35–47)	40	(33–47)	19	(15–22)	16	(12–21)	20	(16–26)
Non–small cell lung cancer, NOS	37	(36–38)	33	(31–34)	41	(40–43)	14	(13–14)	11	(10–12)	17	(16–18)
Small cell lung cancer	32	(31–33)	27	(26–29)	36	(34–38)	7	(7–8)	6	( 5– 7)	9	(8–10)
Unspecified	20	(19–21)	19	(18–20)	21	(19–22)	5	(5–6)	5	(4–6)	5	(5–7)
Geographic region												
British Columbia	43	(42–44)	39	(38–41)	47	(46–49)	17	(16–18)	15	(14–16)	20	(19–21)
Alberta	44	(43–45)	39	(38–41)	48	(47–50)	17	(16–18)	14	(13–16)	19	(18–21)
Saskatchewan	42	(40–44)	38	(35–41)	46	(43–49)	16	(15–18)	13	(10–15)	20	(18–23)
Manitoba	44	(42–46)	40	(37–43)	48	(45–51)	21	(19–23)	18	(15–20)	24	(21–27)
Ontario	45	(45–46)	41	(40–42)	50	(49–51)	20	(19–20)	16	(16–17)	23	(23–24)
New Brunswick	47	(45–49)	43	(40–45)	52	(49–55)	20	(18–22)	17	(14–19)	23	(20–26)
Nova Scotia	41	(39–43)	38	(36–41)	44	(42–47)	16	(15–18)	13	(11–15)	20	(18–22)
Prince Edward Island	38	(33–43)	31	(25–38)	—	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Newfoundland and Labrador	46	(43–48)	41	(38–45)	52	(48–57)	18	(16–21)	15	(12–18)	22	(17–26)

TABLE 6 One- and five-year predicted net survival estimates for lung cancer, by sex, age group, histologic type and geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2014

- estimate can not be calculated as one or more of the age-specific estimates are undefined; Cl=confidence interval; NOS=not otherwise specified

Note: Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Geographic-specific results have been age-standardized using the Canadian cancer survival standard weights for lung cancer.<sup>(4)</sup> Crude (unstandardized) estimates by province are available in the <u>online data</u>. All estimates are associated with a standard error less than or equal to 0.05.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data sources: Canadian Cancer Registry death linked file (1992–2014) and life tables at Statistics Canada

	2-yea	r (diagnosed sind	ce 2013)	5-yea	r (diagnosed sind	ce 2010)	20-уе	nce 1995)	
	Number of cases	Proportion (per 100,000)	95% CI	Number of cases	Proportion (per 100,000)	95% CI	Number of cases	Proportion (per 100,000)	95% CI
All lung cancer	17,915	65.4	(64.4–66.3)	28,685	104.7	(103.5–105.9)	44,140	161.1	(159.6–162.6)
Sex									
Males	8,280	60.9	(59.6–62.3)	12,950	95.3	(93.7–97.0)	19,455	143.2	(141.2–145.2)
Females	9,630	69.7	(68.3–71.1)	15,735	113.8	(112.1–115.6)	24,690	178.6	(176.4–180.9)
Age group (years)									
0-44	195	1.3	(1.1–1.4)	330	2.1	(1.9–2.4)	565	3.6	(3.4–4.0)
45–54	1,060	26.1	(24.6–27.7)	1,645	40.5	(38.5–42.5)	2,280	56.2	(53.9 -58.5)
55–64	3,905	107.6	(104.3–111.1)	6,030	166.2	(162.1–170.5)	8,550	235.7	(230.7–240.7)
65–74	6,550	274.6	(268.0–281.3)	10,475	439.2	(430.9–447.8)	15,650	656.1	(645.9–666.5)
75–84	4,900	382.3	(371.7–393.1)	8,060	628.8	(615.2–642.7)	12,995	1,013.8	(996.5–1,031.4)
85+	1,305	234.7	(222.1–247.8)	2,140	384.9	(368.7–401.5)	4,095	736.5	(714.1–759.4)

TABLE 7 Two-, five- and 20-year tumour-based prevalence case counts and proportions for lung cancer, by sex and age group, Canada (excluding Quebec), January 1, 2015

#### CI= confidence interval

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. All counts were randomly rounded to a base of five to protect confidentiality. Proportions were calculated using rounded counts. Row or column counts may not sum to total counts due to rounding.

Analysis by: Centre for Population Health Data, Statistics Canada

Data source: Statistics Canada, Canadian Cancer Registry death linked file (1992-2014)

## TABLE 8 20-year tumour-based lung cancer prevalence case counts and proportions, by geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), January 1, 2015

Geographic region	Count		tion (per (95% Cl) (78.9–150.3) (45.9–97.2) (87.7–160.9) (144.6–151.6)			
Nunavut Territory	40	110.4	(78.9–150.3)			
Northwest Territories	30	68.1	(45.9–97.2)			
Yukon Territory	45	120.3	(87.7–160.9)			
British Columbia	7,020	148.0	(144.6–151.6)			
Alberta	4,740	115.2	(112.0–118.5)			
Saskatchewan	1,630	145.9	(138.9–153.2)			
Manitoba	2,380	185.1	(177.8–192.7)			
Ontario	22,875	167.4	(165.3–169.6)			
New Brunswick	1,875	247.1	(236.0–258.5)			
Nova Scotia	2,165	230.9	(221.3–240.9)			
Prince Edward Island	265	183.5	(162.1–207.0)			
Newfoundland and Labrador	1,070	202.6	(190.6–215.1)			

#### CI=confidence interval

**Note:** Quebec is excluded because cases diagnosed in Quebec from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. Counts have been randomly rounded to a base of five to protect confidentiality. Proportions are based on rounded counts.

Data sources: Statistics Canada, Table 13-10-0751-01 Number of prevalent cases and prevalence proportions of primary cancer, by prevalence duration, cancer type, attained age group and sex. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.ac-tion?pid=1310075101</u>. Accessed February 19, 2020.

## Appendix

## Data sources and methods

#### **Data sources and definitions**

#### Incidence

Cancer incidence data (1992 to 2016) are from the November 2018 Canadian Cancer Registry (CCR) tabulation file released January 29, 2019. The CCR is a population-based database comprised of cases diagnosed among Canadian residents since 1992.<sup>(1)</sup> Each provincial and territorial cancer registry provides demographic and cancer-specific information to Statistics Canada in a standard format. Annual submissions by jurisdiction include additions and revisions to data submitted in previous years. For this study, the International Agency for Research on Cancer multiple primary coding rules were used.<sup>(2)</sup>

Cancer cases were defined based on the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology, Third Edition (ICD-O-3).<sup>(3)</sup> Cases were classified as lung and bronchus cancer (lung cancer) if the topography (site) code was C34, the behaviour was coded as malignant and the histology was not 9050-9055, 9140 or 9590-9992. Lung cancer cases were divided into seven histologic types (see table on the right) following the groupings outlined in Volume XI of Cancer Incidence in *Five Continents*.<sup>(4)</sup> One exception was that cases assigned histology code 8010, carcinoma not otherwise specified (NOS), were classified as non-small cell lung cancer, NOS, rather than large cell carcinoma.<sup>(5,6)</sup> This adjustment addresses the fact that, up to the 2000 diagnosis year, practitioners tended not to report non-small cell

lung cancers with specificity, which resulted in a sizeable number of non–small cell lung cancers being coded to 8010. Cases classified as sarcomas and other specified malignant neoplasms were excluded from histologic type–specific analyses but included in analyses of all lung cancer combined.

Information on stage at diagnosis was available on the CCR file for cancer cases diagnosed from 2010 to 2016. Cases were staged using the Collaborative Stage (CS) Data Collection System and coding Instructions,<sup>(7)</sup> which is available from the Collaborative Staging Task Force of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) (http://www.cancerstaging.org/cstage/Pages/ default.aspx). The CS system regulates the quality and completeness of stage data by standardizing various aspects of cancer data collection, such as timing, clinical and pathological assessments and cancer type descriptions. The most recent version of the CS system is based on the seventh edition of the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. This framework is used for stage-specific analysis. Cancer cases that are not covered under this framework are considered "unstageable" and were excluded from the stage-specific analysis. Cases staged as occult (n=317 for Canada excluding Quebec for 2010 to 2016) were excluded as were those that have not been staged and assigned to CS not run. Additionally, one stage 0 case was excluded from stage-specific analyses because this code is commonly reserved for in situ cases.

Histologic type	Histology codes
Squamous cell carcinoma	8050–8078, 8083–8084
Adenocarcinoma	8140, 8211, 8230–8231, 8250–8260, 8323, 8480–8490, 8550–8552, 8570–8574, 8576
Small cell carcinoma	8040–8045
Large cell carcinoma	8011–8012, 8014–8031, 8035, 8310
Non–small cell lung cancer, not otherwise specified (NOS)	all other carcinomas (8010–8576) not described above
Sarcomas and other specified malignant neoplasms	8800–8811, 8830, 8840–8921, 8990–8991, 9040–9044, 9120–9133, 9150, 9540–9581 and all other specified malignant neoplasms not already described above
Unspecified	8000–8005

At the time of reporting to the CCR, death certificate only (DCO) cases had not been submitted to the CCR from Ontario for 2015 and 2016, from Manitoba for 2013 to 2016 and from Newfoundland and Labrador prior to 2006. DCO cases were imputed for Ontario for 2015 and 2016 by randomly assigning DCO cases diagnosed in this province in 2013 to 2014 to these years. Likewise, DCO cases were imputed for Manitoba for 2013 to 2016 using the DCO cases diagnosed from 2009 to 2012. DCO cases were not imputed for Newfoundland and Labrador due to the relatively large period of time for which they were not available.

### Mortality

Mortality data (1992 to 2017) are from the May 30, 2019, release of the <u>Canadian Vital</u> <u>Statistics—Death Database</u>.<sup>(8)</sup> This database includes demographic and cause of death information for all deaths in Canada. Lung cancer deaths were identified using the World Health Organization's ICD-10<sup>(9)</sup> code C34 for deaths occurring from 2000 onward and ICD9<sup>(10)</sup> codes 162.2 to 162.5, 162.8 and 162.9 for deaths occurring from 1992 to 1999.

### Population

Population data were obtained from Canada's population estimates released on September 30, 2019.<sup>(11)</sup>

#### Survival and prevalence

Survival and prevalence analyses were performed on a pre-existing death-linked analytic file. This file had previously been created by linking the November 2017 CCR tabulation file of incident cases from 1992 to 2014 to mortality information until December 31, 2014.<sup>(12)</sup> Information on deaths had been obtained from the Canadian Vital Statistics—Death Database and T1 personal master files (as reported on tax returns). Annual expected survival probabilities that are needed to calculate net survival were obtained from provincial and territorial life tables, available for three-year overlapping time periods. For example, expected survival data for 2014 were obtained from life tables for 2013 to 2015. More detail has been provided elsewhere.<sup>(13)</sup>

## **Statistical analysis**

### Incidence and mortality

Sex-specific lung cancer incidence rates by age group, histologic type, stage and geographic region were calculated by dividing the number of new primary cases by the corresponding population counts. Similarly, sex-specific lung cancer mortality rates by age group and geographic region were calculated by dividing the number of new deaths by the corresponding population counts. Age-standardized rates were calculated using the direct method, which involved weighting the age-specific rates according to the age distribution of the 2011 Canadian standard population.<sup>(14)</sup> Rates are expressed per 100,000 people. Incidence data from Ouebec were entirely omitted because cases diagnosed in this province from 2011 onward had not yet been submitted to the CCR. Although mortality data were available for Ouebec, they were also omitted from national analyses for consistency.

Annual percent changes (APCs) in rates were estimated using Joinpoint regression software.<sup>(15,16)</sup> Rates and their corresponding standard errors used as input to Joinpoint analysis were initially calculated to 10 decimal places using the SAS system software version 9.3. P-values associated with APCs correspond to two-sided tests of the null hypothesis that the underlying APC value is zero (i.e., stable) with a significance level of 0.05. Years in which the APC changed significantly are referred to as changepoints. Default parameters were used with the exception that the minimum number of observations from a changepoint to either end of the data was set at four (i.e., 2012 to 2016 was the most recent time period for which an APC could be detected). Likewise, the minimum number of observations between two changepoints was also set at four.

While the default estimation model used for trend analysis was the standard Joinpoint model, the jump model was used to estimate the trend in age-standardized incidence rates for Newfoundland and Labrador. This alternate method was selected because of the known issue of case under-reporting from the province to the CCR prior to the 2006 diagnosis year. As a result of the improvements in case ascertainment by the Newfoundland and Labrador Cancer Registry starting in the 2006 diagnosis year, the total number of cancer cases reported to the CCR by the province in 2006 was 21% greater than in 2005, and the number of lung cancer cases was 30% higher. The jump model is well suited to such situations as it is designed to provide a direct estimation of trends where there is a systematic scale change that causes a "jump" in the rates but is assumed not to affect the underlying trend.<sup>(15)</sup>

#### Net survival

Records from the analytic file for survival were excluded *a priori* if the diagnosis had been established through autopsy only or death certificate only, or if the year of birth or death was unknown. Both of the latter circumstances were extremely rare. Survival analyses were then restricted to first primary lung cancer cases<sup>(17,18)</sup> diagnosed from 1992 to 2014 among people aged 15 to 99 years. Finally, data from Quebec were excluded because cases diagnosed in this province from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the CCR.

Unstandardized (crude) survival analysis estimates were derived using an algorithm<sup>(19)</sup> that Ron Dewar of the Nova Scotia Cancer Care Program augmented to include the Pohar Perme estimator of net survival (Dewar R, email communication, April 19, 2018).<sup>(20)</sup> The updated program uses the hazard transformation approach. Age-standardized net survival estimates were calculated using the direct method and the Canadian cancer survival standard (CCSS) weights.<sup>(13)</sup> These weights, which are based on recent Canadian incidence data, were chosen to enhance the interpretability of the findings in the Canadian context. The CCSS weights for lung cancer are as follows: 0.010 (ages 15–44), 0.067 (ages 45–54), 0.212 (ages 55–64), 0.331 (ages 65–74) and 0.380 (ages 75–99). Standard errors for age-standardized net survival estimates were estimated by taking the square root of the sum of the squared, weighted, age-specific net survival standard errors.

Net survival estimates for 2012 to 2014 were predicted using the period method.<sup>(21)</sup> Followup information used in the period method necessarily does not relate to a fixed cohort of people. Instead, period survival estimates are based on the assumption that people diagnosed in the period of interest will experience the most recently observed conditional probabilities of net survival. Estimates were suppressed if the corresponding standard error was greater than 0.10, and caution was indicated if the standard error was greater than 0.05 but less than or equal to 0.10.

#### Prevalence

Tumour-based limited-duration prevalence counts were determined directly using the counting method.<sup>(22,23)</sup> Specifically, all primary invasive lung cancer cases diagnosed among persons in the relevant time period, and alive at the start of January 1, 2015 (index date), were counted. Prevalent cases diagnosed in the province of Quebec were excluded because incident cases diagnosed in this province from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the CCR. Sex- and age-specific population estimates for January 1, 2015, were derived by averaging the 2014 and 2015 mid-year population estimates for all of Canada, excluding Quebec. Sex-specific lung cancer prevalence proportions by age group were calculated by dividing the number of prevalent cases by the estimated population counts for the index date.

An approximate estimation of the 20-year tumourbased lung cancer prevalence count on the index date for Canada including Quebec was derived as follows. The January 1, 2011 lung cancer count for Canada excluding Quebec was applied to the current 20-year lung cancer prevalence count for Canada excluding Quebec. The 2011 date represents the most recent index date for which an estimate that includes Quebec could be derived. Ten-year prevalence was used because there was insufficient historic data from which to calculate 20-year prevalence for January 1, 2011. The effect on the derived ratio (1.4) of this substitution is very likely quite minimal. While the ratio was observed to slightly increase with increasing prevalence duration, it was also observed to be slightly declining with time (data not shown).

### Limitations

Analyzing and interpreting survival for cases diagnosed in the relatively lightly populated province of Prince Edward Island was challenging due to the small number of cases diagnosed annually there. In the current analysis, lung cancer age-standardized five-year net survival estimates for Prince Edward Island could not be calculated because estimates for the 15–44 age group could not be calculated. This in turn was due to the limited number of cases diagnosed in this age group in this province. Unstandardized province-specific estimates of one- and five-year net survival by sex and for both sexes combined for people aged 15–99 years are available in <u>online data</u>. For both sexes combined, these estimates are virtually the same on a provinceby-province basis as the corresponding agestandardized estimates because the weights used in the age-standardization process were derived from recent cancer incidence data. As such, the unstandardized five-year net survival for Prince Edward Island is very likely an excellent proxy for the corresponding age-standardized estimate.

#### **External contributions**

Boxes A—D were contributed by external groups. The interpretations expressed therein do not necessarily reflect those of the special report's working group members or their host organizations.

#### Canadian Population Attributable Risk of Cancer (ComPARe)

Box A provides statistics estimated by the ComPARe study team. The methods used to identify established and possible risk factors and to estimate the population attributable risks are the same used for the ComPARe study. These are described in detail elsewhere.<sup>(24,25)</sup> Of specific note for the analyses used in this report: the current trends in screening and diagnosis, and therefore incidence and stage at diagnosis, were assumed to continue. The impact of risk factors on death is assumed to be constant by stage and histology. Furthermore, the factors and trends impacting survival and competing causes of death are assumed to be fixed.

### OncoSim model

Box C provides statistics estimated using the OncoSim model. OncoSim is a free, web-based simulation tool that evaluates cancer control strategies.<sup>(26)</sup> Combining data from the real world, expert opinion and the published literature, OncoSim projects health and economic outcomes and attributes them to 27 risk factors, such as smoking and inadequate physical activity. It currently models four cancer types (breast, colorectal, lung and cervical) and related screening programs in detail, and it provides high-level projections for 28 other cancer types. This analysis was conducted using OncoSim-Lung version 3.2.8.

#### OncoSim-Lung

OncoSim-Lung is a mathematical microsimulation model of lung cancer. It simulates the smoking behaviour of the Canadian population and the lifetime impact of smoking and exposure to radon on lung cancer incidence, healthcare costs and all-cause deaths. It has a screening module for evaluating lung cancer screening strategies.

- It simulates smoking behaviour to mimic smoking prevalence by age, sex, province and year reported in several large Canadian health surveys.
- It models the change in smoking rates and intensity across time periods for each age group, by sex and province. For instance, age group 15–19 in 1979 corresponds to age group 30–34 in the 1994 survey (15 years later) and age group 40–44 in 2004 (25 years later). Survey data from the 1970s is essential because most individuals eligible for lung cancer screening in 2020 (aged 55–74 years) would have started

smoking in the 1970s. In addition to the three surveys, the smoking initiation rates were calibrated to match the smoking prevalence by five year age group, sex and province reported in the 2009 Canadian Community Health Survey.

- OncoSim-Lung models the impact of smoking history and radon exposure on lung cancer using published risk equations and the model is calibrated to match the lung cancer incidence data from the Canadian Cancer Registry.<sup>(27,28)</sup>
- OncoSim-Lung simulates large, representative samples of the Canadian population, one individual at a time, from birth to death, using Statistics Canada's official demographic projections.
- The model aggregates the projected outcomes at the provincial, territorial and national level. Examples of outcomes include the number of individuals eligible for lung cancer screening, the number of computed tomography scans, lung cancer incidence by stage, life expectancy, quality-adjusted life years and healthcare costs.
- OncoSim-Lung underwent extensive validation testing to ensure that the assumptions in the model were acceptable to Canadian lung cancer experts and that its projected cause-specific mortality reproduced the observed data in the Canadian Cancer Registry. When projecting the effects of lung cancer screening, OncoSim-Lung reproduces the results of the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST), as well as other comparable lung cancer microsimulation models.<sup>(29)</sup>

#### Scenarios

The analysis included three scenarios (no screening and two commonly considered screening strategies):

- 1. no screening
- 2. offer annual screening up to three times to highrisk individuals aged 55–74 years
- 3. offer biennial screening until the person is ineligible due to their age (up to 10 times) to high-risk individuals aged 55–74 years

"High risk" was defined based on the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care recommendation for lung cancer screening (i.e., for individuals aged 55–74 years with a smoking history of 30 pack-years and current smokers or individuals who quit less than 15 years ago). Pack-years is a way to measure the amount a person has smoked over a long period of time. To calculate pack-years, the number of packs of cigarettes smoked per day is multiplied by the number of years the person has smoked. For example, 1 pack year is equal to smoking 1 pack per day for 1 year or 2 packs per day for half a year.

The screening scenarios assumed screening starts in 2020, with a 10-year phase-in, a 40% participation rate and a 70% adherence rate. It was assumed that smoking cessation was offered at each screening interval for current smokers and that 85% of participants that are current smokers would receive a smoking cessation intervention.

#### Analysis

The analysis included lifetime outcomes capturing the number of lung cancer cases, stage distribution, lung cancer deaths and health system costs, discounted at 1.5% per year. It was conducted from a healthcare payer's perspective and included costs of low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) plus reading, follow-up diagnostics, incidental findings and smoking cessation. The analysis also accounted for costsavings from avoiding advanced stage treatments, such as immunotherapy.

#### Equity and lung cancer

Box D provides statistics estimated by the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. To support the analyses around disparity, the CCR was linked to several administrative databases containing socioeconomic, treatment and mortality information. The analyses presented in this section are based on linking the CCR with the T1 Family File (T1FF) and the Canadian Vital Statistics—Death Database.

For each tax year, Statistics Canada derived an income decile variable by ranking the individual's total family after-tax income, adjusted for geographic region and family size. Income decile was assigned within three age groups (<25, 25-64 and 65+) using the full T1FF file. The income quintile variable was then created by collapsing the decile variable. Lung cancer cases that were not linked or were missing relevant information from the T1FF within the two years prior to diagnosis were excluded from analyses. Cases that were under the age of 30 years, missing staging information or where diagnosis was established through death certificate only were also excluded. Ouebec was excluded from the analysis because cases diagnosed in Quebec

from 2011 onward had not been submitted to the Canadian Cancer Registry. AJCC-7 was used for staging information. When AJCC-7 was missing or unknown, AJCC-6 was used.

Cause-specific observed survival was calculated using the cohort method where a cohort of individuals diagnosed with lung cancer were followed to estimate the probability of survival in 2010 and 2011 in Canada (excluding Quebec). After the exclusion criteria were applied, approximately 85% of lung cancer cases diagnosed in 2010 and 2011 were included in the survival analysis. The last follow-up date was December 31, 2014. Individuals with lung cancer who died from other causes before December 31, 2014, were censored. Age-specific survivals were estimated based on the following age groups: 30-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65-74 and 75+. Age-standardized estimates were calculated using the direct method and the International Cancer Survival Standards type 1 weights.<sup>(30)</sup>

#### **Peer review**

The peer-review process was overseen by the Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee's Working Group (WG) on Lung Cancer. The WG recruited three peer reviewers based on their clinical and epidemiologic expertise. A full draft of this chapter (including text, tables, figures and the description of data sources and methods but excluding Box D) was sent to those who agreed to participate. Peer reviewers were provided with two weeks to review the materials, and they provided written feedback on the materials directly to the WG. The WG reviewed and discussed the feedback as a group and decided what changes would be made as a result.

### References

- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Canadian Cancer Registry. Available at: <u>http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=3207</u> (accessed March 2020).
- International Association of Cancer Registries. International Rules for Multiple Primary Cancers (ICD-O Third Edition). Internal Report no. 2004/02. Lyon: International Association for Research on Cancer, 2004.
- Fritz A, Percy C, Jack A, et al., eds. International Classification of Diseases for Oncology. Third edition, First revision. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- Bray F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Zanetti R and Ferlay J, eds. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Vol. XI (electronic version). Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2017. Available at: <u>http://ci5.iarc.fr</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Yu M, FeurerJ E, Cronin KA, Caporaso NE. Use of multiple imputation to correct for bias in lung cancer incidence trends by histologic subtype. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2014: 23(8): 1546–58.
- Lewis DR, Check DP, Caporaso NE, Travis WD, Devesa SS. US lung cancer trends by histologic type. Cancer. 2014; 120(18): 2883–92.
- Collaborative Staging Task Force of the American Joint Committee on Cancer. Collaborative Stage Data Collection System user documentation and coding instructions, version 02.05. Chicago: American Joint Committee on Cancer; 2013
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Canadian Vital Statistics—Death database (CVSD). Available at: <u>http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.</u> pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=3233 (accessed March 2020).
- World Health Organization. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision (ICD-10). Second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2004.
- World Health Organization. Manual of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries, and Causes of Death, Ninth Revision (ICD-9). Geneva: World Health Organization, 1977.
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Table 17-10-0005-01. Population estimates on July 1st, by age sex. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.</u> action?pid=1710000501 (accessed March 2020).
- 12. Statistics Canada. Linkage of the Canadian Cancer Registry to the Canadian Vital Statistics—Death Database and T1 Personal Master File: Ascertaining the Death Information. Available upon request at STATCAN.infostats-infostats.STATCAN @canada.ca.
- Ellison LF. Progress in net cancer survival in Canada over 20 years. Health Rep. 2018; 29(9):10–8. Available at: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/82-003-x/2018009/</u> article/00002-eng.pdf2st=dcMVO\_iM (accessed March 2020).
- Statistics Canada [Internet]. Canadian Cancer Registry Age-standardization. Available at: <u>https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/statistical-programs/document/3207\_D12\_V3</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Joinpoint Regression Program. Version 4.6.0.0. Statistical Methodology and Applications Branch, Surveillance Research Program: National Cancer Institute; April 2018.
- Kim HJ, Fay MP, Feuer EJ, Midthune, DN. Permutation tests for joinpoint regression with application to cancer rates. Stat Med. 2000; 19(3):335–51: (correction: 2001; 20[4]:655).
- Ellison LF. Measuring the effect of including multiple cancers in survival analyses using data from the Canadian Cancer Registry. Cancer Epidemiol. 2010; 34(5): 550–5.
- Ellis L, Woods LM, Estève J, Eloranta S, Coleman MP, Rachet B. Cancer incidence, survival and mortality: explaining the concepts. Int J Cancer. 2014; 135(8): 1774–82.
- Dickman PW. Estimating and modelling relative survival using SAS. Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm; 2004. Available at: <u>http://www.pauldickman.com/software/sas/ sas/</u> (accessed March 2020).
- 20. Perme MP, Stare J, Estève J. On estimation in relative survival. Biometrics. 2012; 68(1): 113–20.

- Brenner H, Gefeller O. An alternative approach to monitoring cancer patient survival. Cancer. 1996; 78: 2004–10.
- Feldman AR, Kessler L, Myers MH, Naughton MD. The prevalence of cancer. Estimates based on the Connecticut Tumor Registry. N Engl J Med. 1986; 315(22):1394–7.
- Gail MH, Kessler L, Midthune D, Scoppa S. Two approaches for estimating disease prevalence from population-based registries of incidence and total mortality. Biometrics. 1999; 55(4):1137–44.
- 24. Brenner DR, Poirier AE, Walter SD on behalf of the ComPARe Study Group, et al. Estimating the current and future cancer burden in Canada: methodological framework of the Canadian population attributable risk of cancer (ComPARe) study. BMJ Open 2018;8:e022378. Available at: <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/8/7/ e022378.long</u> (accessed March 2020).
- Brenner DR, Friedenreich CM, Yibing R, Poirier AE, Walter SD, King WD. The burden of cancer attributable to modifiable risk factors in Canada: Methods overview. Prev Med 2019;122:3–8.
- 26. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. OncoSim. https://www.oncosim.ca
- Tammemägi MC, Church TR, Hocking WG, Silvestri GA, Kvale PA, Riley TL, et al. (2014) Evaluation of the Lung Cancer Risks at Which to Screen Ever- and Never-Smokers: Screening Rules Applied to the PLCO and NLST Cohorts. PLOS Medicine 11(12): e1001764.
- Whittemore AS, McMillan A. Lung Cancer Mortality Among U.S. Uranium Miners: A Reappraisal2. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1983;71:489-99.
- Flanagan WM, Evans WK, Fitzgerald NR, Goffin JR, Miller AB, Wolfson MC. Performance of the cancer risk management model lung cancer screening module. Health Reports 2015;26:11-8.
- National Cancer Institute, Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program [Internet]. Age Standards for Survival. Available at: <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/ stdpopulations/survival.html</u> (accessed March 2020).

# Index of tables and figures

#### Tables

- **3** Age-standardized incidence rates for lung cancer, by stage, sex, age group, histologic type and geographic region, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016 ... 40
- 4 Age-specific trends in incidence rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 1992–2016 ..... 41

- 7 Two-, five- and 20-year tumour-based prevalence case counts and proportions for lung cancer, by sex and age group, Canada (excluding Quebec), January 1, 2015 44
- A1 Percentage of lung cancer cases and deaths attributable to established risk factors, 2020 and 2045, Canada . . . 8

#### Figures

- Age-specific incidence (2012–2016) and mortality 1 (2013–2017) rates for lung cancer, by sex, Canada 2 Age-standardized incidence (2012–2016) and mortality (2013–2017) rates for lung cancer, by geographic region, Percent distribution of lung cancer cases, by histologic 3 type and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), Percent distribution of lung cancer cases, by stage and 4 sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), 2012–2016 ..... 15 Stage-specific percent distribution of lung cancer cases, 5 by histologic type, Canada (excluding Quebec), 6 Trends in age-standardized incidence (1992–2016) and mortality (1992–2017) rates for lung cancer, by sex, 7 Trends in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) for lung cancer, by histologic type, Canada (excluding Trends in age-standardized incidence rates (ASIR) for 8 lung cancer, by histologic type, Canada (excluding 9 Five-year predicted net survival for lung cancer, by age group and histologic type, Canada (excluding Quebec), **10** Five-year predicted net survival estimates for lung cancer, by histologic type and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec),
- **11** Three-year predicted net survival estimates for lung cancer, by stage and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), **12** Tumour-based prevalence proportions for lung cancer, by duration and sex, Canada (excluding Quebec), January 1, **C1** Clinical impact of LDCT screening in Canada ....... 30 **D1** Distribution of lung cancer cases by stage at diagnosis and family income quintile, Canada (excluding Quebec), D2 Age-standardized, three-year stage-specific observed survival rates for lung cancer, by income quintile, Canada Images В
  - C Estimated age-standardized mortality rates (ASMR) for lung cancer, both sexes, all ages, World, 2018 ..... 33

## Contact us

#### **Partner organizations**

# Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC)

For information on chronic diseases including cancer, their determinants, and their risk and protective factors in Canada, please refer to <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health.html</u> (select "Chronic Diseases") Email: <u>phac.chronic.</u> <u>publications-chronique.aspc@canada.ca</u>.

#### Statistics Canada

statcan.gc.ca (search "cancer")

More detailed information on the methodology used in this publication is available from the Centre for Population Health Data at Statistics Canada, National Enquiries Line (1-800-263-1136) or through Client Services at the Centre for Population Health Data (<u>statcan.hd-ds.</u> <u>statcan@canada.ca</u> or 613-951-1746).

### Canadian Cancer Society <u>cancer.ca</u>

For general information about cancer (such as cancer prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment or care), contact the Canadian Cancer Society's Cancer Information Helpline at 1-888-939-3333 or visit <u>cancer.ca</u>. For questions about this publication, email: <u>stats@cancer.ca</u>.

### Canadian Council of Cancer Registries

Cancer incidence data are supplied to Statistics Canada by provincial and territorial cancer registries to form the Canadian Cancer Registry (CCR). The CCR is governed by the Canadian Council of Cancer Registries (CCCR), a collaboration between the 13 provincial and territorial cancer registries and the Centre for Population Health Data Statistics Canada. Information about the CCR and CCCR can be found on Statistics Canada's <u>Canadian Cancer</u> <u>Registry (CCR)</u> website. Detailed information regarding the statistics for each province or territory is available from the relevant registry:

Newfoundland and Labrador

Prince Edward Island Nova Scotia New Brunswick Quebec Ontario Manitoba Saskatchewan Alberta British Columbia Nunavut Northwest Territories Yukon Statistics Canada

### Vital Statistics Council for Canada

Mortality data are supplied to Statistics Canada by the provincial and territorial Vital Statistics Registrars to form the Canadian Vital Statistics— Death Database (CVSD). The Canadian Vital Statistics System is governed by the Vital Statistics Council for Canada (VSCC) since 1945. The VSCC is a collaboration between the 13 provincial and territorial Vital Statistics Registrars and the federal government represented by the Centre for Population Health Data of Statistics Canada. Detailed information on the VSCC and the CVSD can be found on Statistics Canada's <u>Vital Statistics—Death Database (CVSD)</u>.

## **Questions about cancer?**

When you want to know more about cancer, call the Canadian Cancer Society's Cancer Information Helpline.

**1-888-939-3333** Monday to Friday

cancer.ca

